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Strategic Report 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Overview 
 
Academic year 2018/19, while not without its challenges, has reinforced our collective belief both in the importance of creative 
education to the wider economy and society and of the value of art schools to the creative and cultural power of their cities and 
communities of which they are part. 
 
Against the backdrop of our sustained recovery from the Mackintosh Building fire in June 2018, our students, staff and alumni have 
again proved themselves to be successful, resourceful, collaborative and innovative creative practitioners engaging across discipline 
boundaries, communities and geographical regions.  The GSA and its creative network are without doubt rooted in Glasgow, 
internationally connected and globally impactful but have a reach that extends across Scotland, reinforcing our place as Scotland’s art 
school and only university-level institution specialising in the visual creative disciplines.  
 
GSA continued to be an institution of choice for both undergraduate and postgraduate applicants over the year, receiving many more 
undergraduate applications than we have funded places and increased both its total undergraduate and postgraduate applications over 
the recruitment period covered in this review.  
 
Following a successful pilot last year, the 2018/19 Pre-Sessional English Summer School saw 82 students studying for 4,8 and 12 
weeks with GSA’s Open Studio.  The programme, specifically designed for students studying creative disciplines, covers English 
language tuition and a cultural programme introducing students to the city of Glasgow and the rich creative and cultural environment 
and resources of the art school. 
 
Locally the appointment of a Community Engagement Officer to support the development of better links with the community in 
Garnethill has found ways to better engage with local residents and groups including the joint hosting of community events over the 
year and opportunities for 35 local children to take up summer school places with Open Studio. GSA is also working in partnership with 
Renfrewshire Council to develop Castlehead High School in Paisley as a Creative Academy and during the year hosted 120 Year 2 
pupils from Castlehead in a series of six workshops to develop their skills in new creative areas, and our first cohort of Associate 
Students, from Glasgow Clyde College, graduated at the Degree Show 2019. 
 
GSA’s Creative Network meanwhile continues to grow and develop, with our students and alumni showcasing their talents 
internationally, from Charlotte Prodger becoming the sixth GSA graduate to win the coveted Turner Prize and representing Scotland at 
the Venice Biennale, to Fashion Design student, Melody Uyanga Ramsay, securing a coveted placement at Ralph Lauren in New York 
ahead of 2,000 global rivals. 
 
Other highlights included the Mackintosh School of Architecture's Professor of Urbanism and Landscape, Brian Evans, named as 
Glasgow's first official City Urbanist - a senior advisory position in which he hopes to improve the city's strategic urban planning; 
Professor Alastair Macdonald, a leading expert in design in heath and care, receiving the Humanities Health Medal for Best 
Research during a ceremony at the House of Commons in recognition of his ground-breaking work in the areas of Healthcare 
Associated Infections (HAIs) and Anti-Microbial Resistance (AMR); and Future Experiences: Precision Medicine & The Future of 
Cancer  - an eight-week collaborative project in partnership with Professor Nicol Keith and the Institute of Cancer Research at the 
University of Glasgow, marked with an exhibition in the Reid Building from final year BDes Product Design Students on ‘Personalised 
Health in a Consumer Age’. 
 
 
1.2 Mackintosh Building 

 
Following the 2018 Mackintosh Building fire, on-site works have focused on stabilising and making safe the remaining structure.  This 
has involved the GSA working with specialist scaffolding and construction companies to remove loose and fallen masonry and ‘girdle’ 
the building thus allowing the surrounding area to get back to normal as soon as was possible and also to allow the Scottish Fire and 
Rescue Service to safely access the building to undertake their in-depth investigation into the causes of the fire – a process that is still 
on-going given the complexity of the site and the sheer extent of the internal damage and losses.   
 
We have stated our commitment to rebuild the Mackintosh Building.  The decision made to rebuild following the 2014 remains our intent 
- the events of June 2018 have been a disruption to this decision, but we remain committed to faithfully rebuilding the Mackintosh and 
returning it to its central role in the creative life of our students, staff, city and nation. 
 
The process of how we deliver the rebuilding of the Mackintosh Building.  The timeframe to achieve this remains under discussion and 
will involve over the short-term the development of an outline and then full business case, engaging with a range of stakeholders and 
our communities, running concurrently with the on-going negotiations with our insurers and awaiting the SFRS fire report.    
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Strategic Report (continued) 
 
 
1.3 Stow Building  
 
Work continued on the refurbishment of the Stow Building, with formal hand-over from the main contractor in April 2019.  The 
completion of this phase of work enabled the building to be used for the 2019 Degree Show with full academic occupation from 
September 2019.    
The refurbishment of the Stow Building comprised the internal alteration and refurbishment of Levels 0 – 4 to form Studio, Technical 
Support, Workshop and ancillary spaces for the School of Fine Art and formed part of the Overarching Mackintosh Campus Appeal. 
 
 
1.4 Director 
 
Professor Tom Inns stepped down as Director of The Glasgow School of Art on 2 November 2018 after five years in post.   
Professor Irene McAra-McWilliam OBE was appointed as interim Director on 26 November 2018. 
 
 
1.5 Status 
 
The Glasgow School of Art is Scotland’s art school – a diverse and international community with a shared visual language, holding a 
unique and enviable position within UK higher education. We are Scotland’s specialist university-level institution for the visual creative 
disciplines and through the success of our graduates, the quality of our teaching and research and our heritage, we enjoy both global 
significance and influence as a leading European centre for studio-based learning and research. Alongside our global position we continue 
to contribute to Glasgow’s position as one of the UK’s most successful city-economies. Central to this contribution are our students, staff 
– creative practitioners and academics of international and national significance – and our graduates. It is in this context that over the 
year The Glasgow School of Art rose to rank eighth in the world for art and design in the QS World University Rankings. 
 
 
1.6 Equality Statement 
 
Working with difference and promoting equality underpins our ambition and purpose. Our studio based learning, research and 
collaboration transforms thinking and our individual and collective contributions influence the day-to-day lives of people across local and 
global communities. As a community we are committed to creating and sustaining learning and working environments where difference 
is respected and the widest possible range of cultural and social perspectives are valued.  
 
We treat each other fairly, according to need, and minimise barriers to participation for all. By fostering environments in which difference 
nourishes new questions and possibilities and where respect is a catalyst for the removal of barriers, we support the learning and 
development of individuals and our collective contribution to the common good. 
 
 
2. Performance in Year 
 
2.1 Financial Performance 
The Group Statement of Comprehensive Income on page 23 shows a group deficit of £1,964k (£26,194k deficit 2017/18) and a total 
comprehensive deficit of £6,386k (deficit £19,302k 2017/18).  These results include items of an exceptional and non-recurring nature, as 
well as year end non-cash pension adjustments. Removing the effect of these gives an adjusted Total Comprehensive Income of (£25k), 
as outlined in 2.2 below. 
 
The total net assets of the Group decreased by £6.3m to £37.6m and the cumulative Income and Expenditure Account decreased from 
£9.1m as at 31 July 2018 to £2.9m as at 31 July 2019.  Cash and deposit balances have decreased from £23.4m to £17.8m during the 
year mainly due to the expenditure on the Mackintosh and Stow projects. Some of these monies have been placed on 1-12 month deposit. 
The group shows net current assets of £15.2m (£16.5m 2017/18). 
 
The return on Endowment Asset Investments comprising dividend and bank interest was 2.35%, compared with 2.03% last year.  The 
market value of the total Endowment assets held by the School increased from £4,579k to £4,808k an increase of £229k. The Investment 
Committee is now part of the Business Committee, and this Committee overseas execution of appropriate investment strategies and 
monitors performance.  
 
The Group Statement of Cash Flow shows a net outflow of £5,592k in the financial year (2017/18 outflow £11,124k) due to the monies 
spent on the Mackintosh and Stow projects. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 
 
 
2.2 Adjusted Total Comprehensive Income after removing the effect of non-recurring items 
 
The Group’s results include items of an exceptional and non-recurring nature in terms of the Group’s day to day trading activities. The 
reconciliation below outlines the impact on the Group’s actual Total Comprehensive Income:  

2019  
£000s 

Actual Total Comprehensive Income per accounts (6,386) 
Add back:  
Campus redevelopment expenditure – business interruption 5,188 
Mackintosh Building stabilisation work 8,198 
FRS 102 pension cost adjustment – to staff costs 1,895 
FRS 102 pension cost adjustment – to finance costs 195 
Development Trust income derecognised 1,197 
Actuarial loss in respect of pension schemes 4,422 
Deduct: 
Insurance income 

 
(14,734) 

Adjusted Total Comprehensive Income per accounts (25) 
  
Add back: Depreciation 1,966 
Less: Deferred Capital grant release (1,218) 
Other operating activities cashflow adjustment 195 
“Cash surplus” 918 

 
2.3 Financial Objectives 
 
The financial sustainability of GSA is as important as its academic sustainability and the School seeks to move towards an annual Core 
Operating Surplus of 5% of income, a financial objective that will be achieved through our student number targets across all academic 
schools, the growth and diversification of research income, efficiencies through harmonisation of the academic programme and academic 
school structures, more efficient use of GSA’s estate, improved environmental sustainability, procurement, and the highest levels of 
Governance.  
 
2.4 Treasury Management, Cashflow and Liquidity 
 
The financing and liquidity and the School’s exposure to financial risk is overseen by the Board though the Audit Committee and the 
Business Committee. Each year, forecasts are prepared which consider the cash position of the School given the assumed operational 
movements and planned investment in fixed assets and working capital. This enables the Business Committee to consider any future 
borrowing requirements in a timely manner. The School’s non-endowment cash balances are primarily held in the form of interest bearing 
deposits with financial institutions. These balances can be invested in major clearing banks. The investment at 31 July 2019 was £14m. 
£9m of the investment is held in a long term deposit account and thus has been treated as a current asset investment in the Balance 
Sheet. £5m of the investment is held in a short term deposit account and thus has been treated as cash and cash equivalents in the 
Balance Sheet. 
 
2.5 Going Concern 
 
The Board considers that the School has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this 
reason, it continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.  
 
2.6 Public Benefit 
 
The School has charitable purposes that are only for the public benefit, as defined by Charities Legislation. These purposes must be 
carried out for the public benefit, which is an integral part of the purpose of the School. It is the opinion of the Board that the School has 
met its charitable objectives.  
 
 
2.7 Strategic Plan 
 
Prior to the 2018 Mackintosh Building fire the GSA had progressed the development of its new Strategic Plan 2018 – 2021 pending final 
approval.  As a result of the June 2018 fire, it was decided that this Strategic Plan in the significantly changed context was no longer 
appropriate. 
 
A one-year highly focused Operational Plan was produced covering key areas around student and staff experience and wellbeing, 
estates developments and management with the overarching themes of One GSA, Visible Leadership and Effective Management.  68% 
of actions were completed within the year and 32% partially completed and will be carried forward to the next operational plan. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 
 
2.8 Key Performance Indicators 
 
The Board is presented annually with Key Performance Indicators covering a series of areas, the principal indicators being detailed below.  

 
KPI measures   Actual Actual Actual Actual  
    2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19  

% School Income non SFC    59% 
 

65% 
   

 63% 
 

72% 
 

Total Research & KTP income   £4.1m £3.9m £2.8m £3.2m  
Value of (non EU) overseas student income  £5.5m £6.4m £7.4m £7.8m  
% PG students*   26% 24% 24% 30%  
% Positive student feedback NSS  74% 71% 67% 69%  
% Graduates in education/working after 6 months** 93% 93% 92% -  
Number of Students from MD20*** classification 30 38 27 43  

 

        
 
 * Includes Diploma students      ** Data unavailable until Graduate Outcomes Return due 2020. 
*** Areas of Multiple Deprivation 
The above KPIs 2015/16, 2016/17 and 2017/18 were contained in the School’s Strategic Plan 2015-2018. 
 
2.9 Capital Projects 
 
Capital Expenditure in the year was £7.6m, lower than the previous year’s figure of £12.1m. Included in that figure is £6.1m in respect of 
work on the Stow Building project, which is included in assets under construction. All work on the Mackintosh Building was expensed in 
the year.  
 
 
2.10 Curriculum Developments 
 
The School of Simulation & Visualisation welcomed a second cohort of undergraduate students in Design for Immersive Systems and in 
Sound for the Moving Image at Undergraduate level. The first graduating cohort of SimVis students will present their Degree Show in 
June 2020. The School of Fine Art took the new MLitt in Curatorial Practices into its second year of enrolment. Validations for PGT 
programmes were halted after a reconsideration of the business models and anticipated markets. 
 

 
2.11 Creditor Payment Policy  
 
It is the School’s policy that payments to suppliers are made in accordance with those terms and conditions agreed between the School 
and its suppliers, provided that all trading terms and conditions have been complied with. The School endorses the CBI Prompt 
Payment Code. At 31 July 2019 the School had an average of 26 days (2018: 26) purchases outstanding in trade creditors. With regard 
to the late payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 there are no matters to disclose. 
 
 
3. Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
 
3.1 Key Risks 
 
As a small, specialist institution within the visual creative disciplines, delivery of the GSA’s strategic objectives and operational priorities 
and key performance indicators requires a holistic and cross-School approach.  Similarly, our approach to risk requires to be sufficiently 
cognisant of need to balance the identification and mitigation of risk while ensuring the culture and values of the GSA specifically 
creative enquiry, experimentation, innovation and disruption are maintained and allowed to thrive. 
 
We recognise that risk is an omnipresent part of contemporary organisational life and as we work to deliver our strategic objectives and 
development platforms, we will manage a degree of risk either institutionally, at a local level or for specific projects and initiatives and the 
management of change. 
 
The way in which we manage this is fundamental to the future success of the GSA.  
 
Responsibility for managing risks is achieved through the Risk Management Framework and the Senior Leadership Group.  This is the 
overarching approach we have in place to identify, manage, mitigate and monitor all risks in relation to achieving our strategic 
objectives and operational performance.   A senior staff member from GSA’s (out-sourced) Internal Auditor attends quarterly (prior to  
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Strategic Report (continued) 
 
 
the submission of the Risk Register to the Audit Committee) the Senior Leadership Group to review the Risk Register to provide 
external guidance and advise on the scope of assurance for managing risk provided by GSA’s internal audit programme. 
 
The GSA’s primary risks in 2018-2019 were identified as: 
 

• Poor performance in student satisfaction surveys; 
• Staff wellbeing; 
• Delivery of major estates projects (Stow, Mackintosh, Reid façade and District Heating System); 
• Financial performance relating to income, costs and insurance; 
• Mackintosh Building communications; 
• REF 2021 preparations; 
• Meeting student enrolment targets; and 
• Improvements to GSA’s business processes. 

 
3.2 Financial Risk Management 
 
Foreign Currency Risk 
The School does not enter into any significant foreign currency transactions. The Governors therefore consider the School is not exposed 
to any material foreign currency movement risk. Funds for the GS of A Singapore operation are maintained via bank accounts in 
Singapore. The only exposure would be dividend payments from Singapore to GSA and the intergroup balance. Exchange rate 
movements are monitored and the date of transfer of the dividend payment is selected on this basis. 
 
Credit Risk 
The School is exposed to credit related losses in the event of non-performance by transaction counterparties but mitigates such risk by 
reviewing supplier’s financial accounts and credit scores as part of our tender processes. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
Operations are financed by SFC grants, student fees, research and consultancy contracts and bank balances. In addition, the School has 
an overdraft facility which it has not utilised. The objective is to ensure a mix of funding methods offering flexibility and cost effectiveness 
to match the needs of the School. 
 
Cash Flow Risk 
Following receipt of the insurance settlement monies from the first fire and funding received from the GSA Development Trust, the School 
currently has £9m on long term deposit and £5m on short term deposit with the Bank of Scotland. Interest rates remain low currently. 
There is some indication of a rate increase in the medium term, although there is no certainty. In the accounts, £9m of this investment is 
within current asset investments, with the remaining £5m within cash and cash equivalents.   
 
 
3.3 Health and Safety 
The Director, on behalf of the Board of Governors, is responsible for the health and safety of all staff, students and visitors to the School 
and for adherence to the School’s Health and Safety Policy. The School employs dedicated Health and Safety and Fire Regulatory 
Compliance staff to provide advice and assistance. Under the School’s Health and Safety Policy, managers, staff and students all have 
individual responsibilities for health and safety. 
 
4. Future Developments  
 
4.1 Funding 
The outlook for public sector funding for 2019/20 and onwards is very challenging, and there is the risk that the Scottish Funding Council 
will seek to further reduce the teaching funding provided to HE institutions from 1 August 2020. Scenario planning continues to be 
undertaken to investigate various options for mitigating any reduction in core teaching and research funding.  
 
4.2 Student Recruitment 
 
The GSA continues to be an institution of choice for undergraduate and postgraduate applicants. The School continues to receive many 
more undergraduate applications than we have funded places and the GSA's funded places in 2018-19 remained the same, with an 
announcement part way through the year confirming that the postgraduate skills for growth places were to be removed from 2019-20 
onwards.  
Student Fee income increased to £16.3m in 2018-19 from £15.1m in 2017-18. For entry 2019-20, the recruitment period covered in this 
Annual Review, the GSA increased both its total undergraduate and postgraduate applications.  We continue to grow applications from 
China where we have a physical presence, and continue to invest in a number of other key markets in order to mitigate the risk of being 
overly dependent on the Chinese market.   Our eighth cycle of recruitment to our undergraduate programme in Singapore was  
successfully completed.  
 



 
 

8 

 
Strategic Report (continued) 

 
Students from the Rest of the UK and internationally represent a significant proportion of our student community and following a period 
of planned growth, this is now stabilised.  This shift is reflected in our recruitment strategies that are reviewed annually and adapted to 
try to accommodate shifts in the macro economic events, particularly the impact of Brexit on the future of EU student recruitment and 
the value of Sterling.  
 
 
4.3 Research and Knowledge Exchange Grants and Income 
Income from research grants, knowledge exchange projects and consultancy increased by 15% between 17/18 and 18/19, from 
£2,793,000 to £3,217,000. Income was received from more than 70 funded projects, across all five of GSA’s Schools. GSA’s role in the 
Digital Health and Care Innovation Centre (DHI) again generated the most income, despite a reduced budget compared to years prior 
to 16/17, reflecting an ongoing transition period in the approach to the launch of Phase 2 of DHI in 19/20. Other major projects included 
research and enterprise activities relating to GSA’s work in the Highlands and Islands, and AHRC-funded research projects exploring 
architecture and design-led responses to the challenge of anti-microbial resistance. Income from UK Research and Innovation 
(Research Councils and Innovate UK), at more than £700,000 overall, exceeded our Outcome Agreement target, based on 22 funded 
projects. It is a strategic research priority to succeed in winning more UKRI grants, which can be considered an indicator of research 
quality.  
 
 
4.4 Small Specialist Institution Status 
The School has been designated by SFC as a Small Specialist Institution (SSI) which has led to additional funding to compensate for the 
associated additional costs 
 
 
4.5 Sustainability 
The staff and student-run Sustainability in Action Group is working across the School to drive forward environmental issues within the 
curriculum and across the School’s operations. The GSA community is being encouraged to reduce energy, water and resource use, and 
supports Scotland’s future artists, designers and architects to help them react to, work with and communicate climate change in a positive 
and creative way. This year has seen the establishment of an active student-led group, the Responsive Art and Design Society, which is 
being supported to engage students on sustainability issues within the curriculum and their own practice.  
 
Under a wider umbrella of “GSA Sustainability”, the Sustainability Coordinator supports a wide range of curriculum interventions as well 
as student environmental, social and ethical-focused societies, often with links back to the curriculum. More information can be found at 
www.gsasustainability.org.uk. 
 
During the year, GSA secured Salix loan funding to enable a number of environment improvements to the refurbishment of the Stow 
Building.  
 
One of the primary aims of the project was to make significant environmental improvements to the fabric and running costs of a little-
altered building from the 1930s and the installation of a new, much improved gas-fuelled, hot water, heating system throughout the 
building, and enhanced environmental performance generally through more efficient mechanical, electrical, public health and ICT 
installations.  
  

http://www.gsasustainability.org.uk/
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5. Staff and Students  
 
5.1 Student, graduate and staff successes 
 
Charlotte Prodger (MFA 2010) won the Turner Prize.  GSA has produced 30% of nominees for one of the most prestigious 
contemporary art prizes in the world since 2005. Charlotte also represented Scotland at the Venice Biennale. 
 
Mackintosh School of Architecture's Professor of Urbanism and Landscape Brian Evans is named as Glasgow's first official City 
Urbanist - a senior advisory position in which he will hope to improve the city's strategic urban planning.   
 
Enterprise Studio: Summer School, a collaboration between the GSA, Royal Conservatoire of Scotland and University of the Arts 
London, designed to equip recent graduates with the digital, entrepreneurial, collaborative and practical skills to support the transition 
from student to professional, creative practitioner, takes place. 
 
Textile Design 2018 alumna Erin McQuarrie received the prestigious WGSN Textiles of The Future Award and the Liberty of London 
TexSelect Pattern Prize during Premiere Vision in Paris. 
GSA partnered with universities in Africa and Oceania on the £2M One Ocean Hub project - one of 12 new UKRI Global Research 
Hubs. 
 
Professor Alastair Macdonald was awarded the Humanities Health Medal for Best Research at a special ceremony at the House of 
Commons in recognition of his ground-breaking work in the areas of Healthcare Associated Infections (HAIs) and Anti-Microbial  
Resistance (AMR).  
 
Professor Steve Love was invited to SXSW in Austin Texas to showcase ground-breaking Immersive 3D Experience research 
sponsored by the AHRC, the Digital Laocoön Experience. Digital Laocoön harnesses Virtual Reality and Augmented Reality technology 
to tell the story of Laocoön, one of the GSA’s collection of plaster casts which was damaged in the fire of 2014 and is presumed lost 
following the fire of 2018.  
 
The Mackintosh Environmental Architecture Research Unit (MEARU) at GSA, was part of a team to secure a three-year funding from 
Innovate UK through a Knowledge Transfer Partnership (KTP) to develop Passivhoos™, a specific Scottish approach to Passivhaus. 
The project will aims to encourage the take up of low-energy homes and help eliminate fuel poverty. 
 
Fashion Design student Melody Uyanga Ramsay won a global competition for a coveted placement with Ralph Lauren, New York, from 
over 2,000 applications. 
 
Andrew Fleming, award-winning Silversmithing and Jewellery graduate (2017) and current artist in residence at GSA, designed the 
official medals for the European Athletics Indoor Championships 2019. 
 
Sound for the Moving Image alumnus Ruaraigh Chapman won the Best British Game BAFTA at BAFTA Scotland with Playground 
Games for Forza Horizon 4.   
 
Mackintosh School of Architecture graduate Maria Speake (M.Arch 1992) was awarded House and Garden’s Designer of the Year 
2019. 
 
John Mackechnie RSA (DA Drawing and Painting 1971) and Dr Ian Callum (MA Industrial Design 1979) both received honours in the 
2019 Queens Birthday Honours List.  
  

https://www.linkedin.com/in/ACoAAAQkExcBTDyDnv2GlPBtxCAlUWYxUx3_jsg/
https://www.linkedin.com/in/ACoAABQqGdgBN4zSvBHck9H79PPHwR6sEgdftdk/
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5.2 Staff 
Professor Irene McAra-McWilliam OBE was appointed interim Director for an initial period of 12 months on 26 November 
2018 following the resignation of Professor Tom Inns on 2 November 2018 after five years in post.   
 
The percentage of overall staff turnover for 2018/19 was 12.7% but falls to 8% when calculating on the basis of open-ended 
contracts only (i.e. excluding the number of leavers due to end of fixed-term contract).  Since 2014 the overall percentage of 
staff turnover at GSA has averaged around 11.7%, peaking at 16.6% in financial year 2016/17.  The most recent statistics, 
published by UCEA* (Universities and Colleges Employer’s Association) in 2018, indicate that the overall staff turnover in the 
sector for staff on open-ended contracts 10.6%. GSA is therefore lower than the sector norm. 
 
 
A number of staff were promoted to Reader or Professor in the Year: 
 
Professorships 
Ross Birrell 
Ross Sinclair 
Steve Love 
Sally Stewart 
 
Honorary Professorships 
Michael Johnson 
James Pickard 
Lois Weinthal 
 
Readerships   
Andrew Lamb  
Frances Robertson 
Helen McCormack 
Madeleine Sclater 
 
 
 
 
 
Professor Nora Kearney 
Chair  
 
25 November 2019 
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Directors’ Report 
(Incorporating the Responsibilities of the Board of Governors) 

Governors Ex Officiis 
Prof Irene McAra-McWilliam OBE  Director of the School (from 26 November 2018) 
Prof. Tom Inns BEng (Hons) DIC MDes (RCA) PhD FRSA  Director of the School (until 2 November 2018) 
Prof. Ken Neil MA (Hons) MFA PhD PGCert FHEA FRSA  Deputy Director (Academic) of the School 
Mx Harriet Gould   President of the Students’ Association (until 31 July 2019) 
Mr Alessandro Marini    President of the Students’ Association (from 1 August 2019) 
 
Appointed by the Board of Governors 
Ms Kristen Bennie BA   Lay Governor (from 1 November 2019) 
Mr Charles Beattie FCCA   Lay Governor (until 11 February 2019)  
Ms Ann Faulds BA LLB    Lay Governor (from 1 November 2019) 
Professor John French BSc, PhD, MIOD   Lay Governor (from 1 November 2019) 
Ms Muriel Gray BA (Hons) FRSE*   Lay Governor (on a leave of absence from 4 June 2019) 
Dr Martin Herbert DipQS, MSc, PhD, MRICS   Lay Governor (from 1 November 2019) 
Professor Nora Kearney RGN, MSc*   Lay Governor  
Dr Kate Lampitt Adey   Lay Governor 
Mr Michael McAuley   Lay Governor 
Dr Susie Mitchell PhD    Lay Governor (until 28 February 2019) 
Mr Habib Motani   Lay Governor 
Ms Christa Reekie Mag.phil Dip Ed LLB Dip NP  Lay Governor (until 31 December 2018) 
Mr Harry Rich LLB (Hons), FRSA, CCMI  Lay Governor 
Mr Kenneth Ross OBE DL   Lay Governor  
Sir Muir Russell KCB FRSE   Lay Governor (until 31 October 2018)  
Mr James Sanderson BA Hons Dip Arch RIBA RIAS  Lay Governor 
Mr Andrew Sutherland BAcc CA MCICM   Lay Governor 
Ms Lesley Thomson   Lay Governor 
Mr Tsz Wu BA (Hons) MDes   Lay Governor (from 1 November 2019) 
Professor Alison Yarrington BA (Hons) PhD FRSE FSA FRSA  Lay Governor 
 
Elected Members 
Professor Johnny Rodger BA, PhD, FHEA, PG Cert (L&T) PG Cert (Sup) (Appointed by the Academic Council) 
Dr Sarah Smith BA MA PhD   Elected by the Academic Staff  
Ms Polly Christie BA (Hons) MA  Elected by the Professional Support Staff  
 
Secretary to the Board of Governors          
Dr Craig Williamson LLB (Hons), MSc, PhD  Registrar and Secretary 
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Directors’ Report (continued) 
(Incorporating the Responsibilities of the Board of Governors) 

 
Committee Membership: 
 
Audit Committee: Mr Charles Beattie, Convenor (until 11 February 2019); Mr Andrew Sutherland, Convenor (from 19 February 2019); 
Dr Martin Herbert (from 1 November 2019); Mr Michael McAuley (from 19 February 2019); Dr Susie Mitchell (until 28 February 2019); Sir 
Muir Russell (until 31 October 2018); and Ms Lesley Thomson (from 19 February 2019). 
 
Business Committee (until 30 August 2019): Mr Habib Motani, Convenor; Mx Harry Gould (until 31 July 2019); Ms Muriel Gray (from 15 
October until 3 June 2019); Professor Tom Inns (until 2 November 2018); Professor Nora Kearney (from 1 August 2018 until14 October 
2018); Professor Irene McAra-McWilliam (from 26 November 2018); Ms Christa Reekie (until 31 December 2018); Mr Harry Rich; Mr Ken 
Ross (until 22 November 2018); and Sir Muir Russell (until 31 October 2018). 
 
Business and Estates Committee (from 1 September 2019): Mr Habib Motani, Convenor;; Professor Nora Kearney; Professor Irene 
McAra-McWilliam; Mr Michael McAuley, Vice-Convenor; Mr Alessandro Marini; Mr Harry Rich; Mr Ken Ross; and Mr James Sanderson.
  
 
Estates Committee (until 30 August 2019): Mr Michael McAuley, Convenor; Mx Harry Gould (until 31 July 2019); Ms Muriel Gray (from 
15 October until 3 June 2019); Professor Tom Inns (until 2 November 2018); Professor Nora Kearney (from 1 August 2018 until14 October 
2018); Professor Irene McAra-McWilliam (from 26 November 2018); Ms Christa Reekie (until 31 December 2018); Mr Ken Ross (from 22 
November 2018); and Mr James Sanderson. 
 
Interim and Urgent Business Committee (until 24 October 2018): Professor Nora Kearney, Convenor; Ms Polly Christie; Mx Harriet 
Gould; Ms Muriel Gray; Professor Tom Inns; Mr Ken Ross (from 9 August 2018); Sir Muir Russell; and Ms Lesley Thomson. 
 
Human Resources Committee: Professor Nora Kearney, Convenor (until 3 June 2019); Ms Lesley Thomson, interim Convenor (from 7 
October 2019); Mx Harry Gould (until 31 July 2019); Professor Tom Inns (until 2 November 2018); Professor Irene McAra-McWilliam 
(from 26 November 2018); Mr Alessandro Marini (from 1 August 2019); Dr Susie Mitchell (until 28 February 2019); Professor Ken Neil 
(from 1 September 2019); and Professor Johnny Rodger (until September 2019). 
 
Nominations Committee: Professor Nora Kearney, Convenor (from 1 August 2018 to 14 October 2018 and from 4 June 2019); Ms 
Muriel Gray, Convenor (from 15 October to 3 June 2019); Mr Charles Beattie (until 11 February 2019); Mx Harry Gould (until 31 July 
2019); Professor Tom Inns (until 2 November 2018); Professor Irene McAra-McWilliam (from 26 November 2018); Mr Michael McAuley 
(until 30 August 2019); Mr Alessandro Marini (from 1 August 2019); Mr Habib Motani; Professor Johnny Rodger; Mr Ken Ross; Sir Muir 
Russell (until 31 October 2018); Mr Andrew Sutherland (from 19 February 2019); and Professor Alison Yarrington. 
 
Museum and Archive Committee: Professor Alison Yarrington, Convenor; Ms Polly Christie; Mx Harry Gould (until 31 July 2019); Dr 
Kate Lampitt-Adey (from 1 September 2019); Mr Alessandro Marini (from 1 August 2019); and Professor Ken Neil. 
 
Occupational Health and Safety Committee: Mr Ken Ross, Convenor; Mx Harry Gould (until 31 July 2019); Professor Tom Inns (until 
2 November 2018); Professor Irene McAra-McWilliam (from 26 November 2018); Mr Alessandro Marini (from 1 August 2019); Professor 
Ken Neil; and Professor Johnny Rodger (until September 2019). 
 
Remuneration Committee: Professor Nora Kearney, Convenor (until 3 June 2019); Mr Ken Ross, interim Convenor (from 7 October 
2019); Mx Harry Gould (until 31 July 2019); Ms Muriel Gray (until 3 June 2019); Mr Alessandro Marini (from 1 August 2019); Dr Sarah 
Smith, Mr Andrew Sutherland (until 18 February 2019); and Ms Lesley Thomson (until 18 February 2019). 
 
Strategic Developments Committee (from 6 November 2018 – 10 June 2019): Ms Muriel Gray, Convenor (until 3 June 2019); Professor 
Nora Kearney, Convenor (from 4 to 10 June 2019), Professor Irene McAra-McWilliam (from 26 November 2018); Mr Michael McAuley, 
Mr Habib Motani, Mr Ken Ross (from 3 December 2018), and Ms Lesley Thomson. 
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Directors’ Report (continued) 
(Incorporating the Responsibilities of the Board of Governors) 

 
STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS FOR ACCOUNTING AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
In accordance with the School’s formal governance arrangements, the Board is responsible for the administration and management of 
the affairs of the School and is required to present audited accounts for each financial year. 
 
The Board considers that the School has adequate resources to continue its operations for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it 
continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 
 
The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the School and to enable it to ensure that the accounts are prepared in accordance with the School’s Memorandum and Articles of 
Association, the Statement of Recommended Practice on Accounting for Further and Higher Education and other relevant accounting 
standards including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). In addition, within the terms and conditions of the Financial Memorandum 
agreed between the Scottish Funding Council and the Board of Governors, the Board, through its designated office holder, is required to 
prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the School and of the surplus 
or deficit and cash flows for that year. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Board has ensured that: 
 
• suitable accounting policies are selected and applied consistently; 
• judgements and estimates are made that are reasonable and prudent; 
• applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial 

statements; and 
• accounts are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the School will continue in operation. 
 
The Board has taken all reasonable steps to: 
 
• ensure that funds from the Scottish Funding Council are used only for the purposes for which they have been given and in accordance 

with the Financial Memorandum with the Funding Council and any other conditions which the Scottish Funding Council may from time 
to time prescribe; 

• ensure that there are appropriate financial and management controls in place to safeguard public funds and funds from other sources; 
• safeguard the assets of the School and prevent and detect fraud; and 
• secure the economical, efficient and effective management of the School’s resources and expenditure. 
 
INFORMATION TO THE AUDITOR  
 
To the knowledge and belief of each of the persons who are directors at the time the report is approved: 
 
• So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant material audit information of which the School’s auditor is unaware; and 
• They have taken all the steps that ought reasonably to have been taken as a member of the Board, in order to make himself/ herself 

aware of any relevant information, and to establish that the School’s auditor is aware of the information. 
 
GOING CONCERN 
 
The Board considers that the School has adequate resource to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
 
POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 
 
There have been no significant events affecting the Group or School since the year end.  
 
 
 
By order of the Board 
 
 
 
 
Professor Nora Kearney Professor Irene McAra-McWilliam OBE 
Chair of the Board of Governors Director 
 
25 November 2019 
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 
INTRODUCTION 
 
The School’s governance arrangements are defined through an Order of Council derived from the Further and Higher Education 
(Scotland) Act 1992. The School is also a Company Limited by Guarantee. The School’s Statement of Corporate Governance (reviewed 
and approved by the Board of Governors annually) complies with the high-level principles contained within the revised Scottish Code of 
Good HE Governance published in 2017 (the ‘Code’) and also with the majority of the detailed provisions contained therein.   
 
The undernoted sets out the manner in which the School has applied the principles set out in the Code and follows the format set out by 
the Scottish Funding Council’s Accounts Direction in May 2019 and the SFC Financial Memorandum. Its purpose is to enable the reader 
of the financial statements to understand how these principles have been applied. 
 
GOVERNING BODY 
 
The Board of Governors (the Board) is the governing body of the School and holds to itself the responsibilities for the ongoing strategic 
direction of the School, approval of major developments, and receipt of regular reports from Executive Officers on the day-to-day 
operations of its business.   
 
The Board normally meets four times per session (October, November, March and June), and holds an annual away-day (February) to 
focus on strategic matters and the future direction of the School.  In session 2018/19 and as a result of the fire in the Mackintosh Building, 
the Board held five meetings of the Board (an additional meeting was held in August 2018) and two strategic away days (an additional 
meeting was held in September 2018). 
 
At each of the standard Board meetings in the year reported, the Board received an executive update from the Director, which sets out 
matters relating to the work and progress of the School.  The Board also received reports from the President of the Students’ Association, 
the Registrar and Secretary and the Interim Director of Finance and Resources.  As a matter of course, the Board also received the 
minutes from Academic Council and from each of the Board Committees that had met in the preceding period. 
 
The Academic Council is the principal academic body of the School. The remit of the Academic Council is specified in the School’s Order 
of Council and represents delegated functions from the Board, namely: 
 
• the function of advising the Director in relation to the overall planning, co-ordination, development and supervision of the academic 

work of the institution; and 
 

• such other functions of the Governors as may be assigned to the Academic Council by the Board of Governors. 
 
The roles of Chair and Vice-Chair(s) of the Board are separated from the role of the School’s chief executive, the Director. The Chair’s 
responsibilities include leading the Board and promoting its effective operation, and ensuring that its members work together effectively 
and have confidence in the procedures laid down for the conduct of business. Ultimately, the Chair is responsible for the conduct and 
effectiveness of the business of the Board of Governors. Further details regarding the role of the Chair are set out in the Statement of 
Corporate Governance which is published on the School’s website.   
 
The Board Intermediary is a point of contact for members of the Board in the event that they wish to raise an issue regarding the Chair. 
The Board Intermediary is also responsible for conducting the annual appraisal of the Chair.  This role is currently held by a Vice-Chair. 
 
The Registrar and Secretary maintains regular contact with the Chair to ensure that the conduct of the Board’s business is carried out in 
accordance with the Statement of Corporate Governance, that the Board and its Committees are serviced appropriately and that minutes 
prepared promptly.  Agendas and papers (which include the Board minutes from the previous meeting) are published on the School’s 
website, normally within eight weeks of the meeting. 
 
Statement of Primary Responsibilities and Schedule of Delegation 
 
In accordance with the Code, the Board has a Statement of Primary Responsibilities and Schedule of Delegation which states which 
matters are reserved for the consideration of the Board and which have been formally delegated to its Committees.  These are set out in 
full in the 2019/20 Statement of Corporate Governance. 
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued) 
 
The Statement of Primary Responsibilities provides detail regarding the following responsibilities: 
 
1. To ensure the effective management of the School and to play a key role in the development, approval and review of the mission 

and strategic vision of the School; 
2. To be the principal financial and business authority of the School; 
3. To safeguard the reputation and values of the School; 
4. To ensure the quality of institutional educational provision is upheld and to ensure the defense of academic freedom; 
5. To make such provision as appropriate for the general welfare of students, in consultation with the Academic Council; 
6. To ensure that systems and policies are in place for meeting all of the School’s legal and regulatory obligations; 
7. To oversee and monitor the development and implementation of the School’s Strategic Plan; 
8. To appoint a Chair of the Board of Governors, up to two Vice Chairs, and lay Governors; 
9. To appoint the Director of the School and the Secretary to the Board; 
10. To advise on the appointment of the Deputy Directors of the School, and the Director of Finance and Resources; 
11. To ensure the establishment and monitoring of systems of control and accountability, including financial and operating controls and 

risk management framework; 
12. To ensure that processes are in place to monitor and evaluate the performance and effectiveness of the School;  
13. To establish processes to monitor and evaluate the performance and effectiveness of the Board of Governors; 
14. To conduct its business in accordance with best practice in higher education corporate governance and with accepted standards of 

ethics and behaviour in public life; 
15. To determine and review the remuneration of those senior staff members whose salaries are not included within national pay scales; 
16. To form, and receive regular reports from, committees to consider major areas of activity; 
17. To support and enable the effective functioning of the Students’ Association; 
18. To satisfy itself that the School operates with high levels of social responsibility; and 
19. To take all final decisions on matters of major concern to the School. 
 
The Schedule of Delegation records the delegated authority for decisions taken in the name of or on behalf of the Board. As part of the 
Statement of Corporate Governance, the Schedule is reviewed and formally approved by the Board on an annual basis.  The general 
principles of the Schedule of Delegation are set out below: 
 
• All delegated powers must be exercised in accordance with relevant current procedures and policies of the School and applicable 

statutory requirements; 
 
• Having delegated authority to other bodies or individuals to act on its behalf, the Board of Governors is nevertheless still ultimately 

accountable and assumes collective responsibility for the actions taken under delegated authority; 
 

• The Board of Governors has the power at any time, subject to any statutory restrictions to the contrary, to vary, extend, restrict or 
recall any power or function delegated by it; 

 
• In potentially contentious matters, or for decisions of strategic importance to the School, or where the Board of Governors would be 

reasonably expected to have a significant interest, it may be appropriate to seek the approval of the Board of Governors, even where 
authority has been delegated; 

 
• The use of delegated authority should be reported to the Board of Governors as appropriate; and 

 
• A list of reserved matters which may not be delegated by the Board of Governors is detailed in the School’s Statement of Corporate 

Governance. 
 
The Board has ultimate responsibility for the effective operation of the School, and, following common practice, delegates much of the 
detailed work to Board committees.  The extent of that delegation is detailed within the Board Committee Remits and Memberships, which 
is reviewed and approved by the Board on an annual basis and published on the School’s website. A brief overview of the remit of each 
committee is set out below. 
 
The Board had the following committees in 2018/19: Business, Audit, Estates, Interim and Urgent Business, Human Resources, Museum 
and Archive, Remuneration, Strategic Developments and Nominations. All of these committees are formally constituted with terms of 
reference and all are chaired by lay members of the Board. 
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued) 
 
 
Composition of the Board 
 
The Board comprises lay and academic persons appointed in accordance with the School’s statutory regulations. The majority of 
Governors are non-executive and independent, serving alongside ex-officio and elected staff and student Governors.  At present, the 
Director, the Deputy Director (Academic) and the President of the Students’ Association are ex officio members.  Academic employees 
of the School elect one Governor to the Board of Governors and through the Academic Council appoint a second Governor. Professional 
support staff elect one Governor to the Board. Since January 2018 the School has invited two trade union representatives to attend Board 
meetings until GSA’s legal instruments allow for their formal full membership.  Governors, academic and support staff and students are 
represented on the Human Resources Committee, together with trade union representatives. 
 
Lay Governors are appointed for a term of office not exceeding three years, at the conclusion of which they may be reappointed for up to 
two further terms of three years, subject to review and approval by the Nominations Committee.  The School’s Order of Council sets out 
that one lay Governor should have experience in local government and one should have experience in the provision of education. The 
remaining lay Governors have experience in industrial, commercial or employment matters or the practice of any profession (and 
particularly those relating to disciplines taught within the School). The balance of skills and experience among lay Governors is monitored 
closely to ensure that this is sufficient to enable the Board to meet its primary responsibilities and to ensure stakeholder confidence. 
A register showing the balance of skills, attributes and experience required across the Board’s membership, including attributes and goals 
(having due regard to applicable law) relating to equality and diversity, has been prepared and was utilised in the recruitment of new lay 
Governors in summer 2019. 
  
When a lay Governor demits office or the School seeks to appoint a new Governor, the Nominations Committee or a sub group thereof 
reviews the balance of skills in the membership of the Board against the register of the balance of skills, attributes and experience. This 
informs the appointment process and supports the School in maintaining a coherent and effectively functioning governing body. The Board 
also recognises its responsibility to demonstrate leadership in promoting and facilitating equality and diversity, and ensures that where 
changes occur in the Board’s composition, due and proper account is taken of aiming for a balance across all protected characteristics 
recognised under the Equality Act 2010 as part of the Nominations Committee’s appointment process. 
 
The School has a robust and transparent recruitment process.  In the recent round of lay Governor recruitment, the posts were advertised 
widely in the national press, on the Committee of University Chairs and Women on Boards websites, and on GSA’s own website. As of 1 
November 2019, the School’s Board consists of a total membership of twenty-two members, sixteen of whom are lay Governors, and has 
a male:female ratio of 59%:41%.  This number of Board members ensures that there is a sufficient number of individuals with a broad 
base of skills and experience to support the work of the Board.  In autumn 2019, GSA recruited and appointed five new lay Governors: 
Ms Kristen Bennie, Ms Ann Faulds, Professor John French, Dr Marty Herbert, and Mr Tsz Wu who commenced their period of office on 1 
November 2019.  Four Lay Governors left the Board during the reporting period – Sir Muir Russell (October 2018), Ms Christa Reekie 
(December 2018), Mr Charles Beattie and Dr Susie Mitchell (February 2019). Mx Harriet Gould was President of the Students’ Association 
during the reporting period and they have been succeeded in 2019/20 by Mr Alessandro Marini.   
 
Induction and Governor Development 
 
New Governors attend a governance briefing with the Registrar and Secretary which includes information on the responsibilities of the 
Board, and overview of developments in the HE sector, the School’s strategic plan and overall governance and financial situation.  They 
are also afforded the opportunity to meet with the Director and members of the Senior Leadership Group.  In addition to induction, all 
Governors are invited to participate in an annual governance briefing to refresh their knowledge in this area, with this being mandatory 
for staff Governors and Trade Union attendees.   
 
Throughout the session, Governors are invited to participate in department-specific briefings, presentations and tours to keep members 
up to date with developments within GSA’s five schools.  During session 2018/19, Governors attended two tours of the newly refurbished 
Stow Building, and presentations were held regarding research undertaken by the School of Simulation and Visualisation and the School 
of Innovation’s Winter School to increase members’ knowledge and sense of connection with staff and students.  Governors were also 
invited to attend a training session, delivered by the School’s External Auditor, which aimed to enable a deeper understanding of the 
School’s Management Accounts.  
 
The School remains committed to Governor development, and Board members are kept informed of upcoming seminars and conferences 
relevant to Higher Education governance, for example those delivered by AdvanceHE through its Governor Development Programme.  
New Governors (including the Student President) are strongly encouraged to participate in the Scotland-specific training session in 
October, and the Corporate Governance Office ensures that all Governors are made aware of the programme of events, and reminded 
of these at relevant points throughout the session.  The Chair undertakes reviews of members’ individual contributions at least every two 
years.  This is a further opportunity to members to identify and seek personal development.  Following completion of the reviews being 
conducted in each year, the Chair, with appropriate input from the Vice Chairs, collates the reviews and identifies any points to be followed 
up with individual Governors; any training requirements (for referral to the Registrar and Secretary); any points for wider consideration by 
either the Nominations Committee or the Board: and any points to be factored in to the wider review of Board effectiveness. 
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued) 
 
Board Committees 
 
The Audit Committee met four times in session 2018/19 with both the External and Internal Auditor in attendance. The Committee is 
responsible for meeting with the External Auditor and Internal Auditor of the School and reviewing their findings. The Committee considers 
detailed reports together with recommendations for the improvement of the School’s systems of internal control and management’s 
response and implementation plans. It would also receive relevant reports from the Scottish Funding Council if they affected the School’s 
business and would monitor adherence to regulatory requirements. The Committee also recommends to the Board the Annual Accounts 
for approval, and is responsible for producing an annual report on the effectiveness of the School’s governance arrangements.  A private 
meeting of the Internal and External Auditors with Lay members of the Committee takes place at the November meeting of the Committee. 
 
In December 2018, the annual Audit Committee report to the Board confirmed that the Committee was of the opinion that, as far as can 
reasonably be expected, it was satisfied that: 
 
• That GSA’s internal financial and management systems are adequate and effective, as are the arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness, based on the assessments provided by the external and internal auditors; and 
 
• That the Board’s responsibilities, as described in its Statement of Primary Responsibilities, have been satisfactorily discharged. 
 
The Business Committee met three times in session 2018/19 and recommends to the Board the School’s annual revenue and capital 
budgets and monitors performance in relation to the approved budgets, together with the Audit Committee. The Business Committee is 
also responsible for the preparation of policy for the adequate provision of space to meet the requirements of the strategic plan and the 
monitoring of the effective management of the School’s estate. From session 2018/19 onwards, and to assist in the consolidation of the 
School’s governance framework, the remit of the Business Committee also incorporated that of the former Investment Committee. 
 
The Estates Committee met four times in session 2018/19 and oversees major estates projects and the estates strategy, and in 2018/19 
included the oversight of the process of stabilising the Mackintosh Building following the fire of June 2018 and the final refurbishment of 
the former Stow College Building which opened to staff and students in September 2019. 
 
In March 2019, the Board agreed that, in light of the current agenda, the Business Committee and Estates Committee would be combined 
in session 2019/20.  A revised remit and membership was drafted in conjunction with GSA’s solicitors, and subsequently approved by the 
Board in October 2019. 
 
The Remuneration Committee met once in June 2019 and in December 2018 considered staffing matters by correspondence.  This 
Committee determines the remuneration of the most senior staff, including the Director. Details of remuneration for the year under review 
are specified in this report.  The Committee also has appropriate oversight of severance payments made by the School.  
 
The work of the Remuneration Committee is governed by the Remuneration Committee Framework (approved by the Board in October 
2018), and is informed by benchmarking data and comparator information on salaries and other benefits and conditions of service in the 
Higher Education sector.  The framework provides clarity on the circumstances under which remuneration for senior roles should be 
considered and what the process is, the information that should be used as a basis for decision-making and the parameters and process 
for approval.  The procedures outlined in the Framework follow the principles of the Code, the Higher Education Governance (Scotland) 
Act (2016) and the Equality Act (2010) and aim to ensure: 
 
• A fair and transparent approach to senior staff remuneration that reflects the markets within which GSA operates; 
• Appropriate and justified levels of remuneration for senior staff based upon use of appropriate comparative information from 

established independent sources; 
• Proportionality and consistency of application of decision-making factors. 
 
During this reporting period, the President of the Students’ Association and Academic Staff Governor became members of the Committee.  
Any reports submitted by HR to the Remuneration Committee are also circulated to the Board’s two Trade Union governors in advance 
of Remuneration Committee consideration and the Director of HR reports these views to the Committee. 
 
The Human Resources Committee met four times in session 2018/19 and is responsible for the review of policy relating to the 
employment of staff and the monitoring of the effective management of these affairs and recommending policy to the Board. From session 
2018/19 onwards, the Committee’s remit has been expanded to now include matters relating to equality.  
 
The Museum and Archive Committee met four times in session 2018/19 and considers and makes recommendations on all matters relating to 
the School’s Museum and Archive Collections.  
 
The Nominations Committee oversees and recommends to the Board the appointment and renewal of independent lay governors, and 
the appointment of Board office-holders.  The Committee meets as and when required, and in session 2018/19 conducted its business 
through correspondence. 
 
The Occupational Health and Safety Committee met three times as a Board committee in 2018/19 and reviews and monitors various aspects 
of health and safety management.  
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued) 
 
The Interim and Urgent Business Committee was formed in June 2018 to ensure focused and frequent governance oversight of GSA’s 
recovery following the Mackintosh Building fire. This committee met eight times between August and October 2018. At the end of October 
2018, when the context and consequences of the June 2018 fire moved to a different phase, the Committee was placed into abeyance, 
in line with its design. 
 
The Strategic Developments Committee met ten times in session 2018/19 on a monthly basis.  This Committee was formed in October 
2018, to succeed the Interim and Urgent Business Committee.  This Committee allowed for close governance oversight of the next stage 
of GSA’s post-fire recovery.  The final meeting of this intentionally time-limited Committee was held on 10 June 2019.   
 
Board Effectiveness 
Each year, the Board undertakes a review of its effectiveness, with an externally commissioned full effectiveness review conducted at 
least every five years.  The last externally facilitated review reported in 2017/18 and the summary report is published on GSA’s website, 
together with GSA’s approach to addressing the recommendations from the review.  The Board effectiveness review, consisting of 
individual Governor meetings with the Chair and a separate an effectiveness questionnaire, is currently underway.  
 
CORPORATE STRATEGY 
The Board’s responsibilities include providing input into, approving, and monitoring the School’s long-term strategic plans. The Director 
is responsible for providing the Governors with advice on the strategic direction of the School. 
 
In session 2018/19, which was necessarily a period of consolidation, it was agreed that the Strategic Plan developed and approved at 
the end of session 2017/18 would be put in abeyance.  The School approved an Operational Plan for 2018/19 in December 2018, and 
throughout the course of the remainder of session 2018/19, the Senior Leadership Group and the Board received regular reports on 
progress against its delivery. 
 
The Board Away-Day of 8 February 2019 enabled a full and wide-ranging discussion on a GSA Strategy for Creative Education.  As 
Scotland’s only independent art school – Scotland’s art school –  GSA should be ambitious in exploring partnerships with a variety of 
collaborators. The session identified GSA’s Vision; Student Experience; GSA Estate; and Staff Experience as key themes and priorities 
for GSA and the Strategic Plan.  
 
Work has commenced to develop a new Strategic Plan.  The Board will be involved in the process, from its early inception, through its 
development to final approval.  The proposed approach will be an inclusive and generative process, with inputs from the Board, staff, 
students and key stakeholders over the course of the academic session.  
 
RISK MANAGEMENT 
In September 2019, the Audit Committee approved a revised Risk Management Framework.   
 
The Risk Management Framework establishes the processes GSA follows to monitor, manage and mitigate risk and the institution’s 
appetite for risk across its portfolio of work. 
 
Responsibility for managing risks is achieved through the Risk Management Framework and the Senior Leadership Group. This is the 
overarching approach the School has in place to identify, manage, mitigate and monitor all risks in relation to achieving its strategic 
objectives and operational performance. 
 
The GSA Senior Leadership Group reviews the Risk Register on a monthly basis to consider risks, update the mitigations and amend the 
risk profile.  A senior staff member from the out-sourced Internal Audit service attends the Senior Leadership Group on a quarterly basis 
(prior to the submission of the Institutional Risk Register to the Audit Committee) to review the Risk Register and to provide external 
guidance and advice on the scope of assurance for managing risk provided by GSA’s internal audit programme.  
 
The School’s Risk Appetite is designed to provide guidance to staff to ensure they have confidence in being innovative and ambitious or 
conservative and compliant, and know the parameters where it is necessary to refer to the Senior Leadership Group who will refer to the 
Planning and Management Group or Board (including Board Committees) as appropriate.  Overall responsibility for ensuring the School 
undertakes activities in line with its appetite for risk lies on a day-to-day basis with members of the GSA’s Senior Leadership Group. 
 
INTERNAL CONTROL 
The Board is responsible for the School’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. Such a system is designed to 
manage, rather than eliminate, risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. The process for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control is through management 
reports and reports from the internal auditor to the various committees and, in particular, the Audit Committee. The Board and Audit 
Committee reviews the Institutional Risk Register. Internal Audit Reviews provide a mechanism for GSA’s approach to risk and business 
continuity, and these reports are provided to the Audit Committee in line with the annual Internal Audit Plan. 
 
The School’s Internal Audit service is outsourced to a professional firm of auditors, which operates in accordance with the requirements 
of the Scottish Funding Council’s Financial Memorandum. The work of the internal audit service is informed by an analysis of the risks to 
which the School is exposed, and annual audit plans are based on this analysis. The analysis of risks and the internal audit plans are 
endorsed by the Board on the recommendation of the Audit Committee.  
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STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued) 
 

The Internal Auditor provides the governing body with an annual report on internal audit activity in the School. The report includes the 
Internal Auditor’s independent opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the School’s system of risk management, controls and 
governance processes. 
 
THE SCOTTISH CODE OF GOOD HIGHER EDUCATION GOVERNANCE 
As acknowledged by the Scottish Funding Council, the School has until 2020 to fully comply with the Act and therefore may not achieve 
full compliance with the Code in certain areas until this time.   
 
Once the School’s governing instruments have been amended to reflect the requirements of the Act, the School will be in full compliance 
with the terms of the Code.  
 
In the opinion of the Board, the School has complied with all the principles and provisions of the 2017 Scottish Code of Good Higher 
Education Governance with the exception of detailed provisions 59 and 82 which relate to the formulation of the rules and procedures 
required for the election of the Chair and the constitution of the Academic Board respectively. The School is taking action to address both 
matters through the amendment of their existing governing instruments and it is anticipated that the process will be completed by the 
beginning of session 2020/21, at which point the School will be fully compliant with the terms of the Code. 

 
CONCLUSION 
In conclusion, the Board is satisfied with the corporate governance and internal control arrangements in place. 
 
Attendance at meetings between 1 August 2018 and 31 July 2019 
The attendance of the individual Governors at Board and principal Committee meetings between 1 August 2018 and 31 July 2019 was 
as follows: 

 Board of 
Governors 

Audit Business  Estates 

 7** 4 3 4 
Mr Charles Beattie 3/5 2/2   
Ms Polly Christie 7/7    
Mx Harriet Gould 6/7  3/3 3/4 
Ms Muriel Gray 6/7 0/3* 2/3 3/4 
Professor Tom Inns 2/2 1/1* 1/1 1/2 
Professor Nora Kearney 6/7 1/1* 1/1 1/1 
Dr Kate Lampitt Adey 5/7    
Professor Irene McAra-McWilliam 4/4 2/3* 2/2 2/2 
Mr Michael McAuley 6/7 2/2  4/4 
Dr Susie Mitchell 3/5 2/3   
Mr Habib Motani 7/7  3/3  
Professor Ken Neil  6/7 1/1* 1/1* 1/1* 
Ms Christa Reekie  2/4  1/1 2/2 
Mr Harry Rich 6/7  3/3  
Professor Johnny Rodger 7/7    
Mr Ken Ross 6/7  0/1 2/2 
Sir Muir Russell  3/3 1/1 1/1 - 
Mr James Sanderson 5/7   4/4 
Dr Sarah Smith 5/7    
Mr Andrew Sutherland 7/7 4/4   
Ms Lesley Thomson 7/7 2/2   
Professor Alison Yarrington  5/7    

 
Dr Craig Williamson,  
Registrar and Secretary 

7/7* 4/4*    4/4* 4/4* 

 
* denotes attendee not full member                  
** The full Board normally meets four times each year in committee form and once per year in away-day format. Owing to the fire in 
June 2018, additional extraordinary meetings of the Board were held in August and September 2018. 
 
 
 
 
 
Professor Nora Kearney Professor Irene McAra-McWilliam OBE 
Chair of the Board of Governors Director 
25 November 2019 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of The Glasgow School of Art (the ‘School’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 
31 July 2019 which comprise the Group and School Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Group and School Statement of Changes 
in Reserves, the Group and School Balance Sheet, the Group Statement of Cash Flows and the notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements: 
 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and the School’s affairs as at 31 July 2019 and of the Group’s and School’s 
income and expenditure, recognised gains and losses and statement of cash flows for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; 

• have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher Education, 
and relevant legislation; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation 14 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended). 

Basis for opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.  
We are independent of the Group and the School in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the United Kingdom, including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where: 
 

• the Board of Governors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not 
appropriate, or 

• the Board of Governors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast 
significant doubt about the Group’s or the School’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period 
of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

 
Other information 
 
The Board of Governors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual 
report, other than the financial statements and our Auditor’s Report thereon.  Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.  If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to 
determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information.  If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART (continued) 
 
 
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
 

• the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

• the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Scottish Funding Council’s Financial Memorandum with Higher Education 
Institutions 
 
In our opinion, in all material respects: 
 

• the requirements of the Scottish Funding Council’s accounts direction have been met; 

• funds from whatever source administered by the School for specific purposes have been applied properly to those purposes 
and, if relevant, managed in accordance with relevant legislation, and any other terms and conditions attached to them; and  

• funds provided by the Scottish Funding Council have been applied in accordance with the requirements of the Scottish 
Funding Council Financial Memorandum with Higher Education Institutions. 

 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the School and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we 
have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors’ Report. 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended) require us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate and proper accounting records have not been kept by the School, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by us; or 

• the School’s financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

• certain disclosures of governors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
 
Responsibilities of the Board of Governors 
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities of the Board of Governors for Accounting and the Financial Statements set 
out on page 13 the Board (who are Trustees for the purpose of charity law and Directors for the purpose of company law) is responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as 
the Governors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Governors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the School’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Governors either intend to liquidate the Group or the School or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART (continued) 
 
 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
We have been appointed as auditor under section 44(1) (c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and under the 
Companies Act 2006 and report in accordance with the Acts and relevant regulations made or having effect thereunder. 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website 
at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our Auditor’s Report. 
 
Use of our report 
 
This report is made solely to the Board of Governors, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and 
regulation 10 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) regulations 2006 (as amended).  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Board, as a body, those matters we are required to state to them in an Auditor’s Report and for no other purpose.  
 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the School and the Board, as a 
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
James McBride, Senior Statutory Auditor 
For and on behalf of Scott Moncrieff, Statutory Auditor 
Allan House 
25 Bothwell Street 
Glasgow 
G2 6NL 
 
Date:   25 November 2019 
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Group and School Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year Ended 31 July 2019

Notes Consolidated School Consolidated School

Income £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Tuition fees and education contracts 1 16,323 15,159 15,070 13,911
Funding body grants 2 14,551 14,551 14,072 14,072
Research grants and contracts 3 3,217 3,217 2,793 2,793
Other income 4 2,623 3,369 3,279 3,240
Insurance income 4 14,734 14,734 3,233 3,233
Development Trust income 4 (1,197) (290) 1,779 8,200
Investment income 5 304 304 354 349

Total income 50,555 51,044 40,580 45,798

Expenditure
Staff costs 7 25,698 25,145 23,089 22,554
Other operating expenses 8 11,411 11,362 10,355 10,188
Impairment charge 8 -                   -                   18,062 18,062
Campus redevelopment expenditure : refurbishment 9 -                   -                   9,248 9,248
Campus redevelopment expenditure :business interruption 9 5,188 5,188 2,678 2,678
Mackintosh Building stabilisation work 9 8,198 8,198 -                      -                
Depreciation 13 1,966 1,966 3,021 3,021
Interest and other finance costs 10 271 271 539 539

  
Total expenditure 52,732 52,130 66,992 66,290

(Deficit) before other gains losses and share of operating                                          
surplus/(deficit) of joint ventures and associates 11 (2,177) (1,086) (26,412) (20,492)

 
Share of operating surplus/(deficit) surplus in joint venture 16a 49 -                   (1) -                
Accumulated income retained within specific endowments 15 74 74 82 82
Gain on investments - appreciation of endowment assets 15 155 155 209 209

(Deficit) before tax (1,899) (857) (26,122) (20,201)

Taxation 12 (65) -                   (72) -                

(Deficit) for the year (1,964) (857) (26,194) (20,201)

Other comprehensive income
Actuarial (loss)/gain in respect of pension schemes 32 (4,422) (4,422) 7,092 7,092
Revaluation of heritage assets 14 -                   -                   (200) (200)

Total comprehensive income for the year (6,386) (5,279) (19,302) (13,309)

Represented by:
   Endowment comprehensive income for the year 229 229 291 291
   Restricted comprehensive income for the year (1,202) (290) 1,780 8,200
   Unrestricted comprehensive income for the year (5,091) (4,896) (21,173) (21,600)
   Revaluation reserve comprehensive income for the year (322) (322) (200) (200)

(6,386) (5,279) (19,302) (13,309)

Surplus for the year attributable to:
School (6,386) (5,279) (19,302) (13,309)

All items of income and expenditure relate to continuing activities

 

Year ended 31 July 2019 Year ended 31 July 2018
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Group and School Statement of Changes in Reserves
Year ended 31 July 2019

Consolidated Endowment Restricted

Income and 
expenditure  

account
Revaluation 

reserve Total 
£'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

Balance at 1 August 2017 4,288 7,791 30,176 21,116 63,371

Total comprehensive income 291 1,780 (21,173) (200) (19,302)
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve -                 -              322 (322) -             
Subsidiary reserves exchange rate adjustment -                      -                  (175) -                 (175)

291 1,780 (21,026) (522) (19,477)

Balance at 1 August 2018 4,579 9,571 9,150 20,594 43,894

Total comprehensive income 229 (1,202) (5,413) -                      (6,386)
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve -                 -              322 (322) -                

229 (1,202) (5,091) (322) (6,386)

Balance at 31 July 2019 4,808 8,369 4,059 20,272 37,508

School Endowment Restricted

Income and 
expenditure  

account
Revaluation 

reserve Total 
£'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

Balance at 1 August 2017 4,288 -              29,448 21,116 54,852

Total comprehensive income 291 8,200 (21,600) (200) (13,309)
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve -                 -              322 (322) -           

291 8,200 (21,278) (522) (13,309)

Balance at 1 August 2018 4,579 8,200 8,170 20,594 41,543

Total comprehensive income 229 (290) (5,218) -                      (5,279)
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve -                 -              322                     (322) -                

229 (290) (4,896) (322) (5,279)

Balance at 31 July 2019 4,808 7,910              3,274 20,272 36,264
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Group and School Balance Sheet
Year ended 31 July 2019

Notes Consolidated School Consolidated School
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Non-current assets
Fixed assets 13 77,283 77,283 71,626 71,626
Heritage assets 14 12,785 12,719 12,785 12,719
Investments 15 4,808 4,808 4,579 4,579
Investment in joint venture 16 42 -                  42 -                  

94,918 94,810 89,032 88,924

Debtors greater than one year 18 5,257 -                  6,214 -                  
 

Current assets
Stock 17 89 89 86 86
Trade and other receivables 18 5,210 4,730 7,034 6,588
Cash and cash equivalents 20a 8,826 8,186 4,417 3,693
Current asset investments - bank deposits 20b 9,000 9,000 19,000 19,000

23,125 22,005 30,537 29,367
Less: Creditors: amounts falling 
due within one year 21 (9,539) (9,298) (13,991) (13,850)

 
Net current assets 13,586 12,707 16,546 15,517

 
Total assets less current liabilities 113,761 107,517 111,792 104,441

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 22 (62,761) (57,761) (60,833) (55,833)

Provisions
Pension provisions 24 (13,492) (13,492) (7,065) (7,065)

Total net assets 37,508 36,264 43,894 41,543

Restricted Reserves 
Endowment reserve 25 4,808 4,808 4,579 4,579
Restricted reserve 26a 8,369 7,910 9,571 8,200
Unrestricted Reserves
Income and expenditure reserve 26b 4,059 3,274 9,150 8,170
Revaluation reserve 26c 20,272 20,272 20,594 20,594
Total Reserves 37,508 36,264 43,894 41,543

Professor Irene McAra-McWilliam OBE, Director

Nora Kearney,  Chair 

Company no: SC002271

31 July 2019 31 July 2018

The financial statements  were approved by the Board of Governors on 25 November 2019 and were signed on its behalf on that date by:
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Group Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 July 2019

Notes  31 July 2019  31 July 2018

£'000 £'000
Cash flow from operating activities
(Deficit) for the year (1,964) (26,194)
Adjustment for non-cash items
Depreciation 13 1,966 3,021 
Impairment adjustment -                 18,062 
(Increase) in stock 17 (3) -                 
Decrease in debtors 18 1,531 5,919 
(Decrease)/increase in creditors 21 (996) 630 
(Decrease) in pension provision 24 (85) (90)
Taxation 12 65 72 
Share of operating (surplus)/deficit in joint venture 16a -                 1 
Tax paid 21 -                 (50)
Staff costs- FRS102 pension adjustment 7 1,895 1,090 
Adjustment for investing or financing activities
Gain on investments 15 (155) (209)
Accumulated income of endowment investments 15 (74) (82)
Investment income 5 (304) (354)
Interest payable 10 271 539 
Funding council loan support grants 2 (11) (149)
Release of deferred capital grants 22 (1,218) (1,297)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 918 909 

Cash flows from investing activities
Investment income 5 304 354 
Payments made to acquire fixed assets 13 (7,623) (12,111)

(7,319) (11,757)

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid 10 (65) (60)

New secured loans 21,22 1,020 - 

Repayments of loan amounts borrowed 21,22 (69) (98)
Capital repayments of finance leases 21,22 (76) (118)

810 (276)

(5,591) (11,124)

Add: deposits withdrawn 10,000 5,035 

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the year 4,409 (6,089)

Cash and cash  equivalents at beginning of the year 20a 4,417 10,506 
Cash and cash  equivalents at end of the year 20a 8,826 4,417 

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the year 4,409 (6,089)
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies and Estimation Techniques
Year ended 31 July 2019

1         General information

The School is registered under The Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992. The financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) ‘The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland' (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice), the Companies Act 2006, the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the Charities Accounts (Scotland)
Regulations 2006 (as amended), the Accounts Direction issued by the Scottish Funding Council and the Statement of
Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher Education.

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise judgement in applying the School’s accounting policies (see note 3).

The presentation currency is pound sterling and the financial statements are rounded to the nearest £000. These financial
statements comprise the results of the School and of its Group.

The Group consists of The Glasgow School of Art, The Glasgow School of Art Development Trust, GS of A Singapore Pte Ltd and
the School's joint venture, The Centre for Digital Documentation and Visualisation LLP (CDDV). The School is defined as a public
benefit entity and thus the School complies with all disclosure requirements relating to public benefit entities. The School is a
registered company and its registered number is SC002271. The School is a registered charity in Scotland and its registered
number is SC012490.  The registered address is 167 Renfrew Street, Glasgow, G3 6RQ.

2       Accounting policies

Introduction and accounting basis

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis of accounting subject to the revaluation of certain fixed assets
and in accordance with applicable accounting standards. The effect of events relating to the year ended 31 July 2019, which
occurred before the date of approval of the financial statements by the Board of Governors have been included in the financial
statements to the extent required to show a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at 31 July 2019 and of the results for the
year ended on that date. The accounting policies of the School are set out below. 

Basis of consolidation
The group financial statements include the School and its subsidiary, GS of A Singapore Pte Ltd, and its joint venture with Historic
Environment Scotland, CDDV LLP. The group financial statements also include The Glasgow School of Art Development Trust
which has been deemed as being controlled by GSA. Intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated fully on consolidation.
In accordance with Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 102, the activities of the GSA student union and GSA Enterprises Ltd have
not been consolidated because the School does not control those activities. 

Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis of accounting.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange at the Balance Sheet date. The resulting exchange
differences are taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash flows comprise increases or decreases in cash. Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand and overdrafts.
Deposits are repayable on demand if they are in practice available within 24 hours without penalty. No investments, however
liquid, are included as cash. Cash equivalents includes deposits held for a maturity of less than 3 months.

Current asset investments
These liquid resources comprise assets held as a readily disposable store of value. They include term deposits > 3 months,
government securities and loan stock held as part of the School’s treasury management activities. They exclude any such assets
held as endowment asset investments.
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies and Estimation Techniques
Year ended 31 July 2019

Recognition of Income
Government revenue grants including funding council block grant and research grants are recognised in income over the periods in
which the School recognises the related costs for which the grant is intended to compensate in line with the accruals model. Where
part of a government grant is deferred it is recognised as deferred income within creditors and allocated between creditors due within
one year and due after more than one year as appropriate.

Non-recurring grants from the SFC or other Government bodies received in respect of the acquisition of fixed assets are treated as
deferred Government capital grants and amortised in line with depreciation over the life of the assets.

Income from contracts and other services rendered is included to the extent of the completion of the contract or service concerned.

Non government revenue and capital grants are recognised as income once any performance conditions have been met.

Income from tuition fees is recognised in the financial period it relates to and includes all fees payable by students or their sponsors.
All income from short term deposits is credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is earned. Income
from specific endowments, not expended in accordance with the restrictions of the endowment, is transferred from the Statement of
Comprehensive Income to specific endowments.

In the Glasgow School of Art Development Trust's financial statements, the pledges and funding from the UK Government and the
matched funding from the Scottish Government are shown as incoming resources. At group level the funding from the UK and
Scottish Governments are in substance deferred Government capital grants and have been treated as such within the Group figures.

Interest receivable
Interest receivable is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when receivable.

Interest payable
Finance costs are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the term of the debt using the effective interest method
so that the amount charged is at a constant rate on the carrying amount. Issue costs are initially recognised as a reduction in the
proceeds of the associated capital instrument.

Pension Schemes
The School participates in two pension schemes providing benefits based on final pensionable pay, the Scottish Teachers
Superannuation Scheme (STSS) and the Strathclyde Pension Fund (SPF). All schemes are available to staff of more than one
employer, are contracted out of the State Earnings-Related Pension Scheme, and the assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the School. The Funds are valued by actuaries, the rates of contributions being determined by the trustees on the advice of
the actuaries.

Strathclyde Pension Fund

The scheme is a defined benefit scheme and is accounted as a defined benefit scheme under Financial Reporting Standard 102.

Pension scheme assets are measured using market values. For quoted securities the current bid price is taken as market value.
Pension scheme liabilities are measured using a projected unit method and discounted at the current rate of return on a high quality
corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liability.
The pension scheme surplus (to the extent that it is recoverable) or deficit is recognised in full. The movement in the scheme
surplus/deficit is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Scottish Teachers Superannuation Scheme

Members of the academic staff are members of the Scottish Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme to which the School contributes. It is
not possible to identify each participating institution’s share of the underlying assets and liabilities on a consistent and reasonable
basis. Accordingly, the School has utilised the provisions of FRS 102 whereby the contributions to the scheme are recognised as if it
were a defined contribution scheme. The cost recognised within the School’s Statement of Comprehensive Income will be equal to
the contribution payable to the scheme for the year. Under statute, accounts for this scheme are prepared by the relevant body.  

A small number of staff are in other defined contribution pension schemes but the School would only contribute if the employee was
ineligible to join one of the two main public sector schemes.
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies and Estimation Techniques
Year ended 31 July 2019

Land and Buildings
Tangible Fixed Assets land and buildings are stated at cost or valuation, less a provision for depreciation. The basis of the
valuation is depreciated replacement cost. The last valuation was carried out on 31 July 1995 by Grimleys, Chartered Surveyors.
All additions since that date have been included at historical cost and their value is deemed to be at least equal to the cost
incurred. Buildings are depreciated over their expected useful lives of up to 50 years, with subsequent improvements to buildings
depreciated over their useful lives of 10 or 20 years depending upon whether the improvement is classed as minor (10 years) or
major (20 years).
Costs incurred in increasing the value of a building are capitalised if the cost of the improvement is over £5,000. If the cost incurred
is over £5,000, but not considered to increase the value of the building, it will be written off in the year it is incurred. Where the
property improvement cost that is to be capitalised has been incurred with the aid of a specific Government grant, it is depreciated
as above. The related Government grant is treated as a deferred capital grant and released to the Statement of Comprehensive
income over the period stated above.
Assets under construction are accounted for at cost, based on the value of architects’ certificates and other direct costs, incurred to
31 July 2019. They are not depreciated until they are brought into use.

Assets held for the Nation: Heritage Assets
The School holds and conserves heritage assets for future generations. As a general policy, heritage assets are recognised in the
Balance Sheet where the School has information on the cost or value of the asset. Where information on cost or value is not
available, and the cost of obtaining the information outweighs the benefits to the users of the financial statements, the asset is not
recognised on the Balance Sheet.

The carrying amount of heritage assets are reviewed where there is evidence of impairment e.g. where an item has suffered
physical deterioration or breakage. The School does not intend to dispose of heritage assets. The carrying value is based on the
insurance value as at 31 July 2019 and was carried out by Axa Art, independent valuers. 

Investments
Subsidiary undertakings 

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost less provision for impairment in the School’s Balance Sheet.

The joint venture with Historic Environment Scotland, CDDV LLP, is accounted for under the net equity method.

Equipment

All equipment and minor building improvements costing less than £5,000 for an individual item, or group of related items, is written
off to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year of acquisition.  All other equipment is capitalised at cost. 

Capitalised equipment is depreciated over its useful economic life as follows:
Telephone equipment:                                                       10 years straight line
Other IT equipment and software:                                      6 years straight line
Furniture, fittings and minor building improvements:         10 years straight line
Other equipment:                                                                6 years straight line
Minor building improvements                                             15 years straight line

Where the equipment that is to be capitalised has been acquired with the aid of a specific Government grant, it is depreciated as
above. The related grant is treated as a deferred capital grant and released to the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the
period stated above. A review for impairment is carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of any fixed assets may not be recoverable. Depreciation is charged from the date of acquisition.

Non-government grants received to fund a capital asset are recognised as income when any performance conditions have been
met.
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Leased assets
Operating leases and the total payments made under them are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight
line basis over the lease term. 

Lease agreements which transfer to the School substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership of an asset are treated as if the
asset had been purchased outright. The assets are included in fixed assets and the capital element of the leasing commitments
are shown as obligations under finance leases. The lease rentals are treated as consisting of capital and interest elements. The
capital element is applied in order to reduce outstanding obligations and the interest element is charged to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
the shorter of the lease term or the useful economic lives of equivalent owned assets. 

Investments
Endowment Asset Investments are included in the Balance Sheet at market value as at the year-end.

Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

Debtors
Short term debtors are measured at the transaction price, less any impairment. 

Creditors

Short term creditors are measured at the transaction price. Other financial liabilities, including bank loans, are measured initially at
fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Government capital grants

Government Capital Grants, at amounts approved by The UK Government, The Scottish Government, Glasgow City Council or
any other government agency, are treated as a deferred capital grant and are released to income in accordance with the accrual
model over the useful life of the asset it relates. The accrual model requires the School to recognise income on a systematic basis
over the period in which the School recognises the related costs for which the grant is intended to compensate.

Government revenue grants

Government revenue grants are recognised using the accrual model which means the School recognises the grant in income on a
systematic basis over the period in which the School recognises the related costs for which the grant is intended to compensate.

Non-government grants

Non-government capital and revenue grants are recognised using the performance model. If there are no performance conditions
attached the grants are recognised as revenue when the grants are received or receivable.

A grant that imposes specific future performance related conditions on the recipient is recognised as revenue only when the
performance related conditions are met.
A grant received before the revenue recognition criteria are satisfied is recognised as a liability.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the School or Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and
if it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of
the obligation.

Agency arrangements
Funds the School receives and disburses as a paying agent on behalf of a funding body or other body, where the School is
exposed to minimal risk or enjoys minimal economic benefit related to the receipt and subsequent disbursement of the funds, are
excluded from the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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Financial instruments

The School and Group only enters into basic financial instruments transactions that result in the recognition of financial assets and
liabilities like trade and other accounts receivable and payable, loans from banks and related parties.

Debt instruments (other than those wholly repayable or receivable within one year), including loans and other accounts receivable
and payable, are initially measured at the present value of the future cash flows and subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Debt instruments that are payable or receivable within one year, typically trade payables or receivables,
are measured, initially and subsequently, at the undiscounted amount of the cash or other consideration, expected to be paid or
received. However if the arrangements of a short-term instrument constitute a financing transaction, like the payment of a trade
debt deferred beyond normal business terms or financed at a rate of interest that is not a market rate or in case of an out-right short-
term loan not at market rate, the financial asset or liability is measured, initially, at the present value of the future cash flow
discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument and subsequently at amortised cost. 

Financial assets are derecognised when contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets expire, or when the School or Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are derecognised only once the liability has been extinguished through discharge, cancellation or expiry.

Maintenance of Premises
The cost of routine maintenance is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred.

Taxation Status

The School is a charity within the meaning of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and as such is a charity
within the meaning of Para 1 of Schedule 6 to the Finance Act 2010 and is recorded on the index of charities maintained by the
Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator (Charity No. SC012490). Accordingly, the School is potentially exempt from taxation in
respect of income or capital gains received within categories covered by sections 478-488 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 (CTA
2010) (formerly enacted in Section 505 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (ICTA)) or Section 256 of the Taxation of
Chargeable Gains Act 1992 to the extent that such income or gains are applied to exclusively charitable purposes. The School
receives no similar exemption in respect of Value Added Tax. Irrecoverable VAT on inputs is included in the costs of such inputs.
Any irrecoverable VAT allocated to tangible fixed assets is included in their cost.

The School’s subsidiary commercial company, GS of A Singapore Pte, is subject to the tax laws of Singapore.

Revaluation gains relate to charitable activities and as such no deferred tax is recognised in respect of these unrealised gains.

Endowment funds
Where charitable donations are to be retained for the benefit of the institution as specified by the donors, these are accounted for
as endowments. There are three main types:
·        Restricted permanent endowment – the donor has specified that the fund is to be permanently invested to generate an
income stream to be applied to a particular objective.
·        Unrestricted permanent endowment – the donor has specified that the fund is to be permanently invested to generate an
income stream for the general benefit of the School.
·        Restricted expendable endowment – the donor has specified a particular objective and the School can convert the endowed
capital into income.

Statement of Cash Flows
The exemption from including a Statement of Cash Flows for the School, the parent entity, allowed by the SORP (3.3) has been
taken.
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3       Judgements in applying policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions which affect reported income,
expenses, assets, and liabilities. Use of available information and application of judgement are inherent in the formation of
estimates, together with past experience and expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.  Actual results in the future could differ from such estimates.

The Governors are satisfied that the accounting policies are appropriate and applied consistently. Key sources of estimation have
been applied as follows:  

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The useful lives of property, plant and equipment are based on the knowledge of the senior management team with respect to
expected life cycles.

Recoverability of debtors
Bad debt provisions are incorporated where deemed necessary based on the senior management team's knowledge of the
transactions and payment history of the debtor.

Obligations under the Strathclyde Pension Scheme and pension enhancements on early retirement
This has relied on the actuarial assumptions of the qualified actuary which have been reviewed and are considered reasonable and
appropriate.

The valuation of the heritage assets
The heritage assets have been valued by an appropriately qualified expert valuer.

Mackintosh project

The Mackintosh project incorporated both the repair of the building and improvement / refurbishment work . The surveyor for the
project estimated that 71% of the project cost, undertaken before the fire in June 2018, related to repair work and 29% of the
project cost related to improvement / refurbishment work. Thus costs have been recognised on this basis with the repair costs
expensed and improvement / refurbishment work capitalised. Following the fire in June 2018, the capital value of the works
performed to date was fully impaired as part of the financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2018. The costs incurred in
2018/19 in respect of stabilising the remaining structure and site clearance costs have been expensed. 
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Consolidated School Consolidated School
1 Tuition fees and education contracts £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Scotland and EU fees 2,942 2,942 3,111 3,111
RUK fees 3,655 3,655 3,806 3,806
Non EU fees 8,983 7,819 7,357 6,198
Education contracts 402 402 448 448
Non credit bearing course fees 341 341 348 348

16,323 15,159 15,070 13,911

Consolidated School Consolidated School
2 Funding Council grants £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General fund  - Teaching 7,794 7,794 7,578 7,578
General fund - Research and Knowledge Exchange 1,843 1,843 1,273 1,273
Small specialist institution grant 2,871 2,871 2,820 2,820
Other SFC grants 845 845 1,087 1,087
Deferred capital grants released in year
    Buildings 1,087 1,087 1,064 1,064
    Equipment 100 100 101 101
SFC Loan support grant 11 11 149 149

14,551 14,551 14,072 14,072

Consolidated School Consolidated School
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

3 Research grants and contracts

760 760 763 763
(30) (30) 152 152

Government (UK and overseas) 825 825 742 742
Industry and commerce 1,374 1,374 1,126 1,126
Other 288 288 10 10

3,217 3,217 2,793 2,793

Consolidated School Consolidated School
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

4 Other income

Residences 1,758 1,758 1,560 1,560
Release from deferred grants ( Non SFC) 32 32 132 132
Other income generating activities 200 200 212 212
Dividend paid from GSoA Singapore pte -                        575 -                      -              
Other income 633 754 1,375 1,336
Distribution from CDDV LLP -                        50 -                      -              

2,623 3,369 3,279 3,240

Insurance income
Insurance monies (including accrued income) 14,734                  14,734          3,233                   3,233          

14,734                  14,734          3,233                   3,233          

Development Trust income
Development Trust income (1,197) (290) 1,779 8,200          

(1,197) (290) 1,779 8,200          

The donors remain committed to GSA but they wish to utilise the funds to support their other projects when it is unlikely that GSA will be able to
utilise the funds in the short term.

Consolidated School Consolidated School
5 Investment income £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Investment income on endowments 243 243 140 140
Other investment income 61 61 214 209

304 304 354 349

6 Segmental Reporting 2019 2018
The group activities are carried out in Glasgow and Singapore. Consolidated Consolidated
Group Turnover for these two markets is split as: £'000 £'000

Glasgow 49,342                  39,381                 
Singapore 1,202                    1,199                   

50,544                  40,580                 

Year Ended 31 July 2019 Year Ended 31 July 2018

In 2018 £1,454k of Scottish Government matched funding was recognised in the financial statements of The Glasgow School of Art Development Trust as
incoming resources. At group level the funding is, in substance, a deferred Government capital grant and thus a consolidation adjustment has been made to
reallocate this income to deferred Government capital grants in the group figures. No such income was recognised by The Glasgow School of Art
Development Trust in the current year.

Research councils  
Research charities

Year Ended 31 July 2019 Year Ended 31 July 2018

Year Ended 31 July 2019 Year Ended 31 July 2018

Year Ended 31 July 2019 Year Ended 31 July 2018

Year Ended 31 July 2019 Year Ended 31 July 2018

The negative Development Trust income relates to donations of £290k (2018: £nil) for the Campus Redevelopment Appeal that were returned to the 
individual donors. Funds were transferred back to The Glasgow School of Art Development Trust by GSA, with the Development Trust returning the 
donations to the donors. There was also £950k (2018: £nil) of previously pledged funding that was derecognised in the year at the request of the donors 
who originally made the pledge. 
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7 Staff costs 
The average number of staff employed by the School expressed as full time equivalents was:

Consolidated School Consolidated School

Academic 131 123 130 122
Academic support 87 87 87 87
Research 44 44 49 49
Other support 39 39 38 38
Admin and central services 54 54 52 52
Premises 58 58 56 56
Residences 2 2 2 2

415 407 414 406

Staff costs per activity

Consolidated School Consolidated School
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Academic 9,425 8,872 8,757 8,222
Academic support 3,422 3,422 3,309 3,309
Research 2,659 2,659 2,855 2,855
Other support 2,003 2,003 1,837 1,837
Admin and central services 3,689 3,689 3,634 3,634
Premises 1,697 1,697 1,502 1,502
Residences 101 101 86 86
Pension FRS 102 service charge (note 32) 1,895 1,895 1,090 1,090
Severance and redundancy costs 807 807 19 19

25,698 25,145 23,089 22,554

Consolidated School Consolidated School
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Salaries 18,250 17,812 17,591 17,104
Social security costs 1,903 1,803 1,710 1,676
Pensions 2,843 2,828 2,679 2,665
Pension FRS 102 service charge (note 32) 1,895 1,895 1,090 1,090
Severance and redundancy costs 807 807 19 19
Total 25,698 25,145 23,089 22,554

Year Ended Year Ended
2019 2018

£'000 £'000
Emoluments of the former Director (resigned 2 November 2018)
  Salary 41 160
  Pension contributions 9 28

50 188
  Contractual notice payment and related expenses 258 -                 

308 188

Emoluments of the Director (as Director) (appointed 26 November 2018)
  Salary 106 -                 
  Pension contributions 18 -                 

124 -                 

The ratio of the remuneration of the Director to the median salary of a permanent staff member is 5.51 (2018: 5.68).

Compensation for loss of office payable to senior post holders

Number £'000 Number £'000
Number of payments in excess of £100k during the year 1 258             - -

31 July 2019 31 July 2018

2019 2018

31 July 2019 31 July 2018

Year Ended Year Ended

Year Ended Year Ended

Year Ended Year Ended
31 July 2019 31 July 2018
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7 Staff costs (continued)

Key management personnel

Year Ended Year Ended
2019 2018

No. No.
<£50,000 2                    1               
£50,001 to £60,000 1                    2               
£60,001 to £70,000 1                    -
£70,001 to £80,000 5                    5               
£80,001 to £90,000 1                    1               
£90,001 to £100,000 2                    4               
£110,001 to £120,000 - 1               
£120,001 to £130,000 1                    -
£140,001 to £150,000 1                    -
£150,001 to £160,000 - 1               
£160,001 to £170,000 1                    -
£290,000 to £300,000 1                    -

16                  15             

The key management personnel emoluments are made up as follows: Year Ended Year Ended
2019 2018

£000 £000
Salaries 1,258             1,287        
Compensation for loss of office 338                -                
Employers national insurance 185                160           
Pension contributions 227                233           
Total emoluments 2,008             1,680        

The number of directors receiving benefits under defined benefit schemes: 4 4

Governors emoluments
The emoluments of the Governors including staff governors, excluding pension contributions,fall into
the following bands: Year Ended Year Ended

2019 2018
Number Number

NIL 23                     19               
£35,001 -          £40,000 1                       1                 
£55,001 -          £60,000 1                       2                 
£60,001 -          £65,000 1                       -                  
£65,001 -          £70,000 -                        -                  
£90,001 -          £95,000 -                        1                 
£95,001 -          £100,000 1                       -                  

£140,001 -          £145,000 1                       -                  
£150,001 -          £155,000 -                        1                 
£295,001 -          £300,000 1                       -                  

29                     24               

The Governors' emoluments are made up as follows: Year Ended Year Ended
2019 2018

£000 £000

Salaries 438                   402             
Compensation for loss of office 258                   -                  
Pension contributions 77                     70               
Total emoluments 773                   472             

The emoluments ,excluding pension contributions, of the senior management staff for both School and Group (the 
Executive Group) including staff Governors, in the following ranges were: 
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Consolidated School Consolidated School
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

8 Other operating expenses
Academic and related expenditure 2,460 2,416 2,783 2,619
Administration and central services 2,494 2,494 1,909 1,909
Premises 2,929 2,929 2,212 2,212
Residences, catering and conferences 1,583 1,583 1,430 1,430
Dev Trust expenditure 5 -             3 -              
Research grants and contracts 975 975 980 980
Other expenses 965 965 1,038 1,038

11,411 11,362 10,355 10,188

Asset impairment charge -                    -             18,062 18,062

9 Campus redevelopment expenditure

Consolidated School Consolidated School
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Mackintosh refurbishment and campus redevelopment costs:
Business Interruption costs 5,188 5,188 2,678 2,678
Mackintosh Building stabilisation work 8,198 8,198 -                 -              
Mackintosh refurbishment costs -                    -             9,248 9,248

13,386 13,386 11,926           11,926        

Consolidated School Consolidated School
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

10 Interest and other finance costs

Mortgage and loan interest 65 65 60 60
Interest paid by SFC on loan support for Reid building 11 11 149 149
Net charge on pension scheme (note 32) 195 195 330 330

 271 271 539 539

11 (Deficit)
Consolidated School Consolidated School

The (deficit) is stated after charging for: £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

External auditors remuneration in respect of the audit of the financial statemen  20 20 20 20
External auditors remuneration : subsidiaries 6 - 6 -
External auditors remuneration : corporate tax work 6 6 6 6
External auditors remuneration : other audit work 6 6 6 6
Internal auditors remuneration in respect of audit services 35 35 35 35
Internal auditors remuneration other services - - - -

Depreciation - owned assets 1,930 1,930 2,985 2,985
Depreciation - financed assets 36 36 36 36

Operating leases - land and buildings 2,361 2,361 2,361 2,361

12 Taxation
Consolidated School Consolidated School

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
Current tax
School -                    - - -
Tax re GSofA Singapore Pte Ltd 65                     - 72                  -
Total tax expense 65                     - 72                  -

No corporation tax was due on the activities of the School (2018: nil).

Year Ended 31 July 2019

Year Ended 31 July 2019

Year Ended 31 July 2018

Year Ended 31 July 2018

During the prior year, the Mackintosh building suffered a devastating fire. The original cost of the building, as well as the cost of all capital works 
performed as part of the Mackintosh project was fully impaired in 2017/18 as a result, leaving only the value of the land within fixed assets.

Year Ended 31 July 2019 Year Ended 31 July 2018

Year Ended 31 July 2019 Year Ended 31 July 2018

Year Ended 31 July 2019 Year Ended 31 July 2018
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13 Fixed Assets

Freehold Land and 
Buildings

Equipment and 
Fixtures & 

Fittings

Assets in the 
Course of 

Construction Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cost / valuation
At 1 August 2018 64,492 8,164 17,062 89,718
Additions 30                               1,462 6,131 7,623
Disposals (198) -                        -                       (198)
At 31 July 2019 64,324 9,626 23,193 97,143

Consisting of valuation as at:
1 July 1995 15,890 -                        - 15,890
Cost 48,434 9,626 23,193 81,253

64,324 9,626 23,193 97,143

Depreciation
At 1 August 2018 13,301 4,791 -                       18,092
Charge for the year 1,312 654 -                       1,966
Disposals (198) -                        -                       (198)
At 31 July 2019 14,415 5,445 -                       19,860

Net book value
At 31 July 2019 49,909 4,181 23,193 77,283

At 31 July 2018 51,191 3,373 17,062 71,626

Leased assets included above:
Net Book Value:
At 31 July 2019 112

At 31 July 2018 148

Consolidated fixtures, fittings and equipment include assets held under finance leases as follows:
Year Ended Year Ended
31 July 2019 31 July 2018

£'000 £'000
Cost 446 446
Accumulated depreciation (298) (262)
Charge for year (36) (36)
Net book value 112 148

In May 2014 the School's Mackintosh Building was badly damaged by a major fire. A valuation of the building obtained after the fire valued the building considerably
in excess of the depreciated figure used in these accounts. Accordingly it was deemed that, in this circumstance, that it was satisfactory not to impair the
Mackintosh Building. In June 2018 the Mackintosh building suffered a second, more devastating, fire. Given the extent of the damage, the value of the building was
fully impaired, leaving only the land value within total fixed assets.

The School's policy is that assets are retained at either their 1995 valuation or their historic cost for additions since that date.
Land and Buildings were valued in 1995 by a firm of independent chartered surveyors on a depreciated replacement cost basis. 
All additions since that date have been included at historic cost and their value is deemed to be at least equal to the cost incurred.

Buildings with a net book value of £1,548,632 (2017/18: £1,730k) have been funded from Treasury sources. Should these particular buildings be sold, the School 
would have to surrender the proceeds to the Treasury or use them in accordance with the Financial Memorandum with the Scottish Funding Council.

Valuation of Land & Buildings (Including Inherited Land & Buildings)
Land and buildings have been included at valuation with 2019 2018
the following amounts: £000 £000

Increase from valuation of inherited buildings 3,346                    3,346                 
Increase from valuation of purchased buildings 877                       877                    
Aggregate depreciation on revalued amount (2,283)                  (2,189)                
Net book value 1,940                    2,034                 

The inherited land and buildings concerned were all inherited prior to the 1995 valuation at nil cost. The net book value is £1,488,240 (2017/18: £1,562k)
The revalued buildings were purchased prior to the revaluation in 1995.
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14 Heritage assets

The heritage assets include, amongst others, the School's Charles Rennie Mackintosh furniture and art collections.  It also 
 includes the Library's rare and valuable books collection.  In May 2014 the School's Mackintosh Building was badly damaged
by a major fire. The building housed a large proportion of the heritage assets and unfortunately some of the collection was destroyed. 
The fall in valuation in 2014 was asa result of the damage caused by the fire but the School was insured in respect of this loss.
In June 2018 a further devastating fire struck the Mackintosh building,which caused damage to the Reid Building which
housed a small number of heritage assets which were destroyed as a result. The fall in valuation in 2018 was as a result of
this however once again the school was insured in respect of this loss. 

The valuation disclosed in the Balance Sheet is based on the assessment of the School's insurance replacement value for 
the combined collections. These insurance valuations are updated, at least, annually and the most recent valuation was 
performed at June 2019. In addition, individual collections are reviewed periodically to ensure the accuracy of the valuation.

Further information about the School's collections is publicly available on the School's website.

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
School £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Value of heritage assets acquired by donation 12,719 12,919 10,734 8,827 8,827
Adjustments to valuation or cost     -    (200) 2,185 1,907     -    

Balances as at 31 July 12,719 12,719 12,919 10,734 8,827

Glasgow School of Art Development Trust

Value of heritage assets acquired by donation 66             66                  66             50              -   

Group Total      12,785      12,785           12,985      10,784        8,827 

15 Endowments
2019 2018

Group and School £'000 £'000

At 1 August 2018 4,579 4,288
Additions -               831
Disposals (199) (411)
Increase/(decrease) in cash balances held at fund managers 273 (338)
Appreciation of endowment asset investments in year 155 209

At 31 July 2019 4,808 4,579
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16a Investment in joint venture

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Statement of Comprehensive Income

Net income 49 (1)

Balance sheet

Fixed assets - -

Current assets 50 220
50 220

Creditors: amounts due within one year - -

Creditors: amounts due after more than one year (8) (178)
(8) (178)

Share of net assets 42 42

16b Investment in subsidiaries

The School's investment, at the balance sheet date, in the share capital of companies includes the following:

Name Class of shares Holding
GSofA Singapore pte Ordinary 100%
The Glasgow School of Art Development Trust Ordinary 100%

 

The School holds a 50% share of The Centre for Digital Documentation and Visualisation LLP (CDDV). This is a joint venture
owned equally by the School and Historic Environment Scotland. The arrangement is treated as a joint venture and is accounted
for using the equity method, such that 50% of the company’s gross assets and liabilities are incorporated into the consolidated
balance sheet of the School and 50% of its net income is reported in the School's consolidated income and expenditure account. 

Year ended 31 July 2019 Year ended 31 July 2018

The principal activity of GSofA Singapore are those related to the provision of degree level education in Singapore and the 
principal activity of The Glasgow School of Art Development Trust is to raise funds to support the strategic priorities of The 
Glasgow School of Art.
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17 Stock
Consolidated School Consolidated School

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

General consumables 89 89 86 86
 89 89 86 86

18 Debtors Year ended 31 July 2018
Consolidated School Consolidated School

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Amounts falling due within one year:

Trade debtors 621                612                816                816                
Debts due from students 597                597                594                594                
SFC Loan debtor within one year -                 -                 1,250             1,250             
Amounts due from subsidiary companies -                 160                -                 158                
Amounts due from related parties 12                  12                  -                 -                 
Tax and social security 24                  24                  75                  75                  
Prepayments and accrued income 3,956             3,325             4,299             3,695             

5,210             4,730             7,034 6,588

Amounts falling due in more than one year:
Development funding debtor 5,257 - 6,214 -

5,257 - 6,214 -

19 Financial Instruments
Consolidated School Consolidated School

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8,826 8,186 4,417 3,693
Bank deposits 9,000 9,000 19,000 19,000
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 9,424 3,678 11,818 2,818

27,250 20,864 35,235 25,511

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 7,398 7,398 10,748 8,896

7,398 7,398 10,748 8,896

Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade debtors, debts due from students, SFC loan debtor, development funding debtor,
amounts due from subsidiary companies, amounts due from related parties and accrued income.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise trade creditors, secured loans, unsecured loan, obligations under finance leases,
research contracts accrual and accruals.

20a Cash and cash equivalents
Consolidated School Consolidated School

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cash and cash equivalents 8,826 8,186 4,417 3,693
8,826 8,186 4,417 3,693

20b Current asset investments
Consolidated School Consolidated School

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Bank deposits 9,000 9,000 19,000           19,000           
9,000 9,000 19,000           19,000           

21 Creditors : amounts falling due within one year Year ended 31 July 2019 Year ended 31 July 2018
Consolidated School Consolidated School

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Trade creditors 641                641                566                566                
Secured loans 103                103                1,320             1,320             
Unsecured loan 128                128                -                 -                 
Obligations under finance leases 28                  28                  51                  51                  
Payments in advance 2,035             2,035             1,832             1,832             
Deferred SFC funding 50                  50                  2,607             2,607             
Deferred capital grants 1,437             1,437             1,296             1,296             
Taxation and social security 41 -                 121                -                 
Research contracts accrual 1,915             1,915             2,035             2,035             
Corporate tax 64                  -                 -                 -                 
Accruals and deferred income 3,097             2,961             4,163             4,143             

9,539             9,298             13,991 13,850

    

Year ended 31 July 2019 Year ended 31 July 2018

Year ended 31 July 2019 Year ended 31 July 2018

Year ended 31 July 2019 Year ended 31 July 2018

Year ended 31 July 2019

Year ended 31 July 2019 Year ended 31 July 2018
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22 Creditors : amounts falling due after more than one year
            Year ended 31 July 2019             Year ended 31 July 2018

Consolidated School Consolidated School
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Secured loan 827 827 929 929
Unsecured loan 893 893 -                    -                    
Deferred capital grants 61,031 56,031 59,841 54,841
Obligations under finance lease 10 10 63 63

 
62,761 57,761 60,833 55,833

Analysis of secured and unsecured loans:  
Due within one year or on demand (Note 21) 259 259 1,371 1,371
Due between one and two years 247 247 166 166
Due between two and five years 748 748 346 346
Due in five years or more 735 735 480 480
Due after more than one year 1,730 1,730 992 992
Total secured and unsecured loans 1,989 1,989 2,363 2,363

Secured loans repayable by 2026 930 930 2,249 2,249
Unsecured loan 1,021 1,021 -                    -                    
Finance leases 38 38 114 114

1,989 1,989  2,363  2,363

Details of loans:
Combined loan: Repayable by quarterly instalments until December 2026
Loan rate 5.59 % (fixed) secured on the Sir Harry Barnes Building and the Margaret MacDonald House Residence
Salix loan: 
Repayable by bi-annual instalments until April 2027. There is no interest charged on this loan.
Deferred Capital Grants ( Group and School)
Included within creditors are the following items of income which have been deferred until specific performance related 
conditions have been met.

Funding Other Grant
Group Council & Benefactions Total

£'000 £'000 £'000
As at 1 August 2018

Buildings 60,139                    399                    60,538              
Equipment 599                         -                    599                    

60,738                    399                    61,137              
Capital grants received in year 

Buildings 2,549                      -                    2,549                 
Equipment -                          -                    -                    

2,549                      -                    2,549                 
Disposals

Buildings -                          -                    -                    
Equipment -                          -                    -                    

-                          -                    -                    
Released to Income and Expenditure

Buildings (1,087)                     (31)                    (1,118)               
Equipment (100)                        -                    (100)                  

(1,187)                     (31)                    (1,218)               
As at 31 July 2019

Buildings 61,601                    368                    61,969              
Equipment 499                         -                    499                    

62,100                    368                    62,468              

Funding Other Grant
School Council & Benefactions Total

£'000 £'000 £'000
As at 1 August 2018

Buildings 50,139                    5,399                 55,538              
Equipment 599                         -                    599                    

50,738                    5,399                 56,137              
Capital grants received in year 

Buildings 2,549                      -                    2,549                 
Equipment -                          -                    -                    

2,549                      -                    2,549                 
Disposals

Buildings -                          -                    -                    
Equipment -                          -                    -                    

-                          -                    -                    
Released to Income and Expenditure

Buildings (1,087)                     (31)                    (1,118)               
Equipment (100)                        -                    (100)                  

(1,187)                     (31)                    (1,218)               
As at 31 July 2019

Buildings 51,601                    5,368                 56,969              
Equipment 499                         -                    499                    

52,100                    5,368                 57,468              
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23 Obligations under finance leases             Year ended 31 July 2019             Year ended 31 July 2018
Consolidated School Consolidated School

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Due within one year 28 28 51 51
Due between one and five years 10 10 63 63
Due in five years or more -                     -                      -                     -                    
Total obligations under finance leases 38 38 114 114

The finance leases relate to the lease of equipment. There are no unusual terms or conditions.
The net book value of the secured assets are £148k ( 2017/18: £148k).

24 Provisions for liabilities Defined Benefit Total
Group and School Pension on Obligations Pensions

on termination (Note 32) Provisions
£'000 £'000 £'000

At 1 August 2018 1,045 6,020 7,065
Income and expenditure movement (85)                      2,090 2,005
Actuarial loss -                      4,422 4,422
At 31 July 2019 960 12,532 13,492

The provision for past service pensions relates to unfunded enhanced early retirals given in prior years. The provision was calculated by a firm of 
actuaries in July 2018 and this valuation was amended for movements in the year.

25 Endowment Reserves
Restricted net assets relating to endowments are as follows:

 Restricted 
permanent 

endowments 

 Unrestricted 
permanent 

endowments 
 Expendable 
endowments 2019 2018

Total Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balances at 1 August 2018
Capital 4,208   -  371 4,579 4,288
Accumulated income   -    -    -    -    -  

4,208   -  371 4,579 4,288
New endowments   -    -    -    -    -  
Investment income 273   -    -  273 493
Expenditure (199)   -    -  (199) (411)
Increase in market value of investments 155   -    -  155 209

Total endowment comprehensive income for the y 229   -    -  229 291

At 31 July 2019 4,437   -  371 4,808 4,579

Represented by:
Capital 4,363   -  371 4,734 4,497
Accumulated income 74   -    -  74 82

4,437   -  371 4,808 4,579

Analysis by type of purpose:
Prize funds 4,437   -    -  4,437 4,208
General   -    -  371 371 371

4,437   -  371 4,808 4,579

Analysis by asset 
Current and non-current asset investments 4,163 4,207
Cash & cash equivalents 645 372

4,808 4,579

Restricted permanent endowments are where the donor has specified the fund is to be permananetly invested to generate an income stream
to be applied to a particular objective.
Expendable endowments are where the School is free to convert the capital to income and apply it to an appropriate objective as it sees fit.
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26a Restricted Reserves 2019 2019 2018 2018
Reserves with restrictions are as follows: Total Total Total Total

Consolidated School Consolidated School
Campus redevelopment reserve £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balances at 1 August 2018 9,571 8,200 7,791   -  
New grants   -    -    -    -  
Income (1,197) (290) 1,782 8,200
Investment income   -    -    -    -  
Capital grants utilised   -    -    -    -  
Expenditure (5)   -  (2)   -  
(Decrease) / increase in market value of investments   -    -    -    -  
Total restricted comprehensive income for the year (1,202) (290) 1,780 8,200

At 31 July 2019 8,369 7,910 9,571 8,200

2019 2019 2018 2018
Total Total Total Total

Analysis of other restricted funds /donations by type of purpose: £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Campus redevelopment (including Mackintosh restoration) 8,369 7,910 9,571 8,200

8,369 7,910 9,571 8,200

£8,200k of funding was paid by GSA Development Trust to GSA in the year which is included as income within the School's results , however at 
Group level this transaction is removed on consolidation. However the funds are now held in a restricted reserve in GSA, whilst in the prior year it
was held in a restricted reserv in GSA Development Trust, hence no movement in the Group's restricted reserve.

26b Income and expenditure reserve

This reserve includes all current and prior year retained surpluses or deficits.

26c Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve consists of unrealised gains in respect of investments and the revaluation of properties.

27 Capital and other commitments

At 31 July 2019 there were no capital commitments (2018: £8,422,157).

28 Contingent liabilities

There were no contingent liabilities at the Balance Sheet date.

29 Lease obligations

Total rentals payable under operating leases:
Land and 
Buildings Total

Land and 
Buildings Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Future minimum lease payments due:
Not later than 1 year 1,231 1,231 1,492 1,492
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 3,750 3,750 3,832 3,832
Later than 5 years 14,510 14,510 15,500 15,500
Total lease payments due 19,491 19,491 20,824 20,824

The net movement in funds in the GSA Development Trust was (£911k) as a result of the repayment of donations to donors of £290k and the 
derecognition of £950k of previously recognised pledges at the request of the donors who made the pledge.

31 July 2019 31 July 2018
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30 Subsidiary and Joint Venture undertakings

GSofA Singapore pte 
The school has a wholly owned subsidiary incorporated in Singapore. The School owns 100% of the share capital being 1SGD. Its financial 
results have been consolidated into the accounts for the year to 31 July 2019.
The transactions between GSA and GSofA Singapore related to management costs paid from GSofA Singapore to GSA 
of £159,716 (2018: £158,074). As at 31 July 2019, a debtor of £160k (2018: £158k) is outstanding at the year end.
A dividend of £575k (2018: £nil) was declared and paid by GSofA Singapore Pte in 2018/19. 

Centre for Digital Documentation and Visualisation  LLP 
The School has entered into the above joint venture arrangement with Historic Environment Scotland.  This joint venture digitally documents heritage
sites both in Scotland and internationally and the School undertakes work, at arms length prices, for this joint venture.
Located at the School's Digital Design Studio on Pacific Quay the centre specialises in the precise documentation and 3D representation
of heritage objects, architecture and environments utilising state of the art high resolution laser scanning technology and 3D visualisation
software.
The share of the operating surplus was £48,536 (2018: deficit of £1,000).The value of the investment in the joint venture at the year end 
is £42,000 (2018: £42,000); £nil (2018: £nil) is included in debtors at the year end.
During the year, GSA received a distribution of £50,000 (2018: £nil) from CDDV LLP.
GSA provided services to CDDV LLP of £107,412 (2018: £240,107).
The financial statements of CDDV LLP are made up to 31 March annually to coincide with the year end of Historic Environment Scotland.

Glasgow School of Art Development Trust
This was established in 2010 to manage the philanthropic capital appeal for the new Graduate and Research Centre and following the fire at the
Mackintosh building, the restoration of the Mackintosh building. It is an independent charitable trust governed by a deed of trust and is registered
with OSCR.
Its financial results have been consolidated into the accounts for the year to 31 July 2019.
In the prior year £13.2m was donated by the Trust to GSA. This was money received from various pledged debtors and included
£5m of matched funding from the Scottish Government which was recognised as a deferred capital grant.

31 Related party transactions

Due to the nature of the School's operations and the composition of the Board of Governors (being drawn from local public and private sector
organisations) it is inevitable that transactions will take place with organisations in which a Governor may have an interest. All transactions involving 
organisations in which a Governor may have an interest are conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with the School's financial regulations
and normal procurement procedures.
The Board of Governors consider the relationships that the School has with GSA Enterprises Ltd and GSA Students Association to have the 
characteristics of related parties under the Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 102. There were no transactions with GSA Enterprises Ltd 
during the current year.

 
GSA Student Association (GSASA)

 The School entered into a loan agreement with GSASA to assist them following the fire in May 2014 and the subsequent transfer of trading
operations to the new premises in the Assembly Building.
The loan balance at 31 July 2019 is £60,000 (2018: £60,000). A bad debt provision of £60,000 (2018: £60,000) has been made in respect of this 
loan to leave a net balance of £nil (2018: £nil). During the year £12,000 was charged to GSASA Limited in respect of rent. The balance owed
to GSA at the year end, and included in debtors, is £12,340.

During the year no funds were donated by The Glasgow School of Art Development Trust to GSA. However £290,000 of donations were repaid by GSA  
to the Development Trust and then by the Development Trust to the donors. In addition to this, £950,000 of previously recognised pledged donations 
were derecognised by the Development Trust at the request of the donors. 
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32 Pension Schemes
The School's employees belong to two principal pension schemes; the Scottish Teachers' Superannuation Scheme
(STSS) and a Local Government Pension Scheme administered by the Strathclyde Pension Fund (SPF) which are
of the defined benefit type. The cost of the SPF scheme was £1,453,000 (2017/18: £1,352,000) and the cost of the
STSS was £1,313,000 (2017/18:  £1,254,000). Other pension costs totalled £77,000 (2017/18: £62,000).

Strathclyde Pension Fund (SPF)  
The Strathclyde Pension Fund provides benefits on final pensionable salary for employees of local government
and some other institutions. This scheme, a multi employer defined benefits scheme, covers both past and present
employees. A FRS102 valuation of the School's benefit obligations has been estimated by a qualified independent
actuary and the assumptions are as at 31 July 2019. The employer contribution rate for the period from 1 August
2018 to 31 July 2019 was 19.3% of pay. The employee contribution rate was variable during 2018-19 depending 
upon the individual level of remuneration. The range was from 5.5% to 10.4%. There were no outstanding pension 
contributions at the year end. Principal actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages) at the end of the
year were as follows:

Financial assumptions 2019 2018
Pension increase 2.40% 2.40%
Salary increase rate 3.60% 3.60%
Discount rate 2.10% 2.80%
Mortality assumptions
The average future life expectancies at age 65  used to determine benefit obligations are as follows:

Male Female
Current pensioners 20.7 years 22.9 years
Future pensioners 22.2 years 24.6 years

Fair value of the plan assets and the return on those assets were as follows:
2019 2018
£000 £000

Equities 30,559        27,260       
Bonds 11,283        9,371         
Property 4,701          4,685         
Cash 470             1,278         

47,013        42,594       

Analysis of the amount shown in the balance sheet 2019 2018
£000 £000

Fair value of plan assets 47,013        42,594       
Present value of funded benefit obligations (59,545)       (48,614)     
Pension liability (12,532)       (6,020)       
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32 Pension Schemes (continued)
2019 2018
£000 £000

Service costs 2,624         2,439         
Past service costs 717            -            
Employer contributions (1,446)       (1,349)       

1,895         1,090         

Interest on plan assets (1,207)       (1,058)       
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation 1,402         1,388         
Net interest 195            330            

Net charge on pension liability to SOCI 2,090         1,420         

Analysis of amount recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 2019 2018
£000 £000

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets 2,090         1,814         
Experience gains and losses arising on the scheme liabilities -            1,299         
Changes in financial assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities (6,512)       3,979         
Actuarial (loss)/ gain recognised in OCI (4,422)       7,092         

Analysis of movements in present  value of the scheme liabilities 2019 2018
£000 £000

Opening defined benefit obligation 48,614       50,395       
Current service cost 2,624         2,439         
Past service cost 717            -            
Interest cost 1,402         1,388         
Contribution by members 474            463            
Actuarial losses/(gains) 6,512         (3,979)       
Experience gains and losses -            (1,299)       
Benefits paid (798)          (793)          
Closing defined benefit obligation 59,545       48,614       

Analysis of movements in fair value of the scheme assets 2019 2018
£000 £000

Opening fair value of employer assets 42,594       38,703       
Expected return on assets 1,207         1,058         
Contributions by members 474            463            
Contribution by employer 1,446         1,349         
Actuarial gains 2,090         1,814         
Benefits paid (798)          (793)          
Closing fair value of employer assets 47,013       42,594       

The School expects to contribute approximately £1,446k to the Strathclyde Pension Fund in the next year.
The cumulative actuarial loss at 31 July 2019 was £2,716k (2017/18: gain of £1,706k).
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32 Pension Schemes (continued)

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the SPF scheme liabilities are set out below:

Change in assumptions at 31 July 2019 Approximate % increase to Approximate monetary
Defined Benefit Obligation amount (£000)

0.5% decrease in Real Discount Rate 12% 7,107             
0.5% increase in the Salary Increase Rate 2% 1,333             
0.5% increase in the Pension Increase Rate 9% 5,609             

Scottish Teachers' Superannuation Scheme (STSS)
The scheme is an unfunded multi employer defined benefit scheme. Contributions, on a pay as you go basis, are credited to the
exchequer under arrangements governed by the Superannuation Act 1972. A notional asset value is ascribed to the Scheme for
for the purpose of determining contribution rates. Under the definitions set out in the Financial Reporting Standard 102 the
STSS is a multi-employer pension scheme. The School is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets 
and liabilities of the scheme. Accordingly the School has accounted for its contributions as if it were a defined contribution scheme. 
The pension cost is assessed every five years in accordance with the advice of the Government Actuary.
The assumptions and other data that have the most significant effect on the determination of the contribution levels are as follows:-

Valuation date 31 March 2010
Valuation method Prospective benefits
Investment return per annum 4.6%
Rate of real earnings growth 1.5%
Present  value of liabilities at date of valuation £ 24.37 million
Pension increases per annum 2.8%

The employer contribution rate for the period from 1 August 2018 to 31 July 2019 was 17.2% (2017/18: 17.2%) of pay. 
The employee contribution rate was 6.4% during 2018/19 ( 2017/18: 6.4%).
The scheme is an unfunded scheme and it is not intended that the scheme will have a level of financial assets which match the 
liabilities of the scheme. The full actuarial review of the scheme is available from the Government Actuary's Department.
There were no outstanding pension contributions at the year end.
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33 Bursary and Other Student Support Funds  2018 -  2019  2017 -  2018
Hardship Childcare Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000
Balance brought forward at 1 August 2018 -                -               -                     -                    
Funds received in year 142                26                 168               188                     
Expenditure (142)              (26)               (168)              (188)                   
Balance carried forward at 31 July 2019 -                -               -                -                     

Grants are available solely for students; the School acts only as paying agent. The grants and related disbursements are therefore excluded from 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income

34 Contingent asset

The Mackintosh building is covered by an Owner Controlled Insurance Policy with the interest of the School, Main Contractors and Sub-Contractors.
Following the fire in June 2018, insurance income will be received. However at this point the value and method of receipt of this income has
still to be agreed.
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